# SOLAR POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENT

between

# Florida Municipal Power Agency (Solar III Project)

as Buyer

and

as Seller

dated as of

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ARTICL	LE 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	1
1.1	Definitions.	
1.2	Interpretation.	
ARTICL	E 2 TERM	
2.1	Term	
ARTICL	LE 3 OBLIGATIONS AND DELIVERIES	
3.1	Product	
3.2	Purchase and Sale.	
3.3	Contract Price.	
3.4	Project Capacity.	
3.5	Performance Excuses.	
3.6	Offsets, Allowances and Environmental Attributes.	19
3.7	Station Service	
3.8	Transmission.	
3.9	Scheduling	
3.10	Sales for Resale.	
3.11	Operating Procedures.	
3.12	Regulatory Approvals	
3.13	Standards of Care.	
3.14	Buyer Curtailment.	
3.15	Outage Notification.	
3.16	Operations Logs and Access Rights	
3.17	Forecasting.	
3.18	Weather Station.	
3.19	Compliance Cost Cap	
3.20	Production Guarantee	
ARTICL	LE 4 PROJECT DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION	
4.1	Project Development.	
4.2	Commercial Operation.	
4.3	Cure Period and Delay Damages	
4.4	Project Capacity, Default Commercial Operation Date, and Termination Option	
ARTICL	LE 5 METERING AND MEASUREMENT	
5.1	Metering System	
5.2	Inspection and Adjustment	
ARTICL	LE 6 EARLY TERMINATION	
6.1	Early Termination	
	Е 7	
EVENTS	S OF DEFAULT	
7.1	Events of Default	
7.2	Remedies; Declaration of Early Termination Date.	
7.3	Termination Payment.	
7.4	Notice of Payment of Termination Payment.	
7.5	Disputes with Respect to Termination Payment.	
7.6	Rights and Remedies Are Cumulative.	

7.7	Mitigation.	. 34
ARTICI	E 8 PĂYMENT	. 34
8.1	Billing and Payment.	. 34
8.2	Disputes and Adjustments of Invoices.	. 35
ARTICI	E 9 INSURANCE, CREDIT AND COLLATERAL REQUIREMENTS	. 35
9.1	Insurance.	. 35
9.2	Grant of Security Interest.	. 35
9.3	Performance Assurance	
ARTICI	E 10 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS	
10.1	Representations and Warranties.	
10.2	General Covenants.	
10.3	Seller Covenants	
10.4	Buyer's Covenants.	
	E 11 TITLE, RISK OF LOSS, INDEMNITIES	
11.1	Title and Risk of Loss.	
11.2	Indemnities by Seller.	
11.3	Indemnities by Buyer.	
	E 12 GOVERNMENTAL CHARGES	
12.1	Cooperation.	
12.2	Governmental Charges.	
	E 13 CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION	
13.1	Confidential Information.	
	E 14 ASSIGNMENT	
14.1	Successors and Assigns; Assignment.	
14.2	Collateral Assignment.	
	E 15 FORCE MAJEURE	
15.1	Force Majeure Events.	
15.2	Extended Force Majeure Events E 16 LIMITATIONS ON LIABILITY	
	Disclaimer of Warranties	
16.1 16.2		
16.2	Limitations on LiabilityBuyer Liability.	
	E 17 DISPUTE RESOLUTION	
17.1	Intent of the Parties	
17.1	Management Negotiations	
17.2	Specific Performance and Injunctive Relief	
	E 18 NOTICES	
18.1	Notices	
	E 19 MISCELLANEOUS	
19.1	Effectiveness of Agreement; Survival.	
19.1	Audits.	
19.2	Audits	
19.3	Waivers	
19.5	Severability	
19.6	Standard of Review.	
19.7	Governing Law.	
19.8	Waiver of Trial by Jury.	
	J J	

19.9	Attorneys' Fees	52
	No Third-Party Beneficiaries.	
	No Agency	
	Cooperation.	
	Further Assurances.	
19.14	Captions; Construction.	
	Entire Agreement.	
19.16	Forward Contract	53
19.17	Service Contract.	53
19.18	Counterparts.	53
	1	

- Exhibit A Contract Price & Purchase Option Price
- Exhibit B Description of Project
- Exhibit C Description of the Delivery Point
- Exhibit D Production Guarantee
- Exhibit E Form of Guaranty
- Exhibit F Form of Letter of Credit
- Exhibit G Seller Insurance Requirements
- Exhibit H Form of Surety Bond
- Exhibit I Form of Environmental Attributes Attestation and Bill of Sale
- Exhibit J Form of Lender Consent
- Exhibit K Participant List
- Exhibit L Form of Progress Report
- Exhibit M Form of Limited Assignment Agreement

## SOLAR POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENT (Solar III Project)

This SOLAR POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made this \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_\_, 202\_, (the "Effective Date"), by and between the Florida Municipal Power Agency, a separate governmental legal entity creating and existing pursuant to Section 163.01, Florida Statutes, and exercising powers under that provision or Part II, Chapter 361, Florida Statutes or both ("Buyer") and \_\_\_\_\_\_, a \_\_\_\_\_ ("Seller"). Buyer and Seller are each individually referred to herein as a "Party" and collectively as the "Parties."

#### **RECITALS**

WHEREAS, Seller intends to develop a photovoltaic solar energy generation facility of approximately 74.9 MW aggregate nameplate capacity on a site located in \_\_\_\_\_\_ County, Florida, as further described in Exhibit B (the "**Project**"); and

WHEREAS, Seller desires to sell, and Buyer desires to purchase and receive, all of the electric Energy and associated Capacity Attributes and Environmental Attributes from Buyer's Share of the Project, on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and of the mutual covenants herein set forth, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt, sufficiency and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, do hereby agree as follows:

#### ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

#### 1.1 Definitions.

"*AC*" means alternating current.

*"Abandon"* means after having commenced construction of the Project, Seller stops construction of the Project for more than ninety (90) consecutive days excluding cessation of construction work caused by the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event, Permitting Delay, or Transmission Delay and because of such stoppage Seller cannot reasonably demonstrate to Buyer that it will nonetheless be able to complete the Facility within the timeframe contemplated by this Agreement.

"Adjustment Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2.

*"Affiliate"* means, with respect to any Person, any entity controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person, any entity that controls, directly or indirectly, such Person or any entity directly or indirectly under common control with such Person. For the purposes of this definition, "control" (including, with correlative meanings, the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with"), as used with respect to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and

policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise.

"Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.

"Annual Energy Output Guarantee" has the meaning set forth in Exhibit D.

*"Applicable Law"* means, with respect to any Person or the Project, all laws, statutes, codes, acts, treaties, ordinances, orders, judgments, writs, decrees, injunctions, rules, regulations, Governmental Approvals, directives and requirements of all regulatory and other Governmental Authorities, in each case applicable to or binding upon such Person or the Project (as the case may be).

*"Applicable REC Program"* means, except as otherwise agreed by the Parties, the Greene Renewable Energy Standard for the United States published by the Center for Resource Solutions, as may be amended, restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time, and any successor voluntary renewable energy program established as a replacement for such program.

"Bankrupt" means, with respect to a Party, such Party (i) files a petition or otherwise commences, authorizes or acquiesces in the commencement of a proceeding or cause of action under any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar law, (ii) makes an assignment or any general arrangement for the benefit of creditors, (iii) otherwise becomes bankrupt or insolvent (however evidenced), (iv) is generally unable to pay its debts as they fall due, (v) been adjudicated bankruptcy or has filed a petition or an answer seeking an arrangement with creditors, (vi) taken advantage of any insolvency law or shall have submitted an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition in bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, (vii) become subject to an order, judgment or decree for relief, entered in an involuntary case, without the application, approval or consent of such Party by any court of competent jurisdiction appointing a receiver, trustee, assignee, custodian or liquidator, for a substantial part of any of its assets and such order, judgment or decree shall continue unstayed and in effect for any period of one hundred eighty (180) consecutive Days, (viii) failed to remove an involuntary petition in bankruptcy filed against it within one hundred eighty (180) Days of the filing thereof, or (ix) become subject to an order for relief under the provisions of the United States Bankruptcy Act, 11 U.S.C. § 301.

*"Business Day"* means any day except a Saturday, Sunday, or a Federal Reserve Bank holiday. A Business Day commences at 8:00 a.m. and ends at 5:00 p.m. local time for the location of the Site.

"Buyer" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

*"Buyer Curtailment Cap"* means % of the Buyer's Share of the Annual Energy Output listed in Table A of Exhibit D.

*"Buyer Curtailment Order"* means the instruction from Buyer to Seller to reduce Buyer's Share of generation from the Project by the amount, and for the period of time set forth in such order, for reasons unrelated to a Planned Outage, Forced Outage, Force Majeure and/or Curtailment Period.

*"Buyer Curtailment Period"* means the period of time during which Seller reduces generation from the Project pursuant to a Buyer Curtailment Order. The Buyer Curtailment Period shall be inclusive of the time required for the Project to ramp down and ramp up.

"Buyer Excuses" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.5(b).

"Buyer's Share" means \_\_\_\_\_%.

*"Capacity Attributes"* means any current or future defined characteristic, certificate, tag, credit, or ancillary service attribute, whether general in nature or specific as to the location or any other attribute of the Project intended to value any aspect of the capacity of the Project to produce Energy or ancillary services. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, Capacity Attributes do not include Environmental Attributes or Tax Attributes.

*"Capacity Shortfall"* means the difference between Buyer's Share of the Expected Project Capacity and Buyer's Share of the amount of Project capacity that has achieved Commercial Operation as of the applicable date.

"*Capacity Shortfall Damages*" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(b).

*"Change of Law"* means any enactment, adoption, promulgation, modification or repeal of any Applicable Law, or in the administration, interpretation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority occurring on or after the Effective Date.

"Commercially Reasonable" or "Commercially Reasonable Efforts" means, with respect to any purchase, sale, decision, or other action made, attempted or taken by a Party, such efforts as a reasonably prudent business would undertake for the protection of its own interest under the conditions affecting such purchase, sale, decision or other action, consistent with Prudent Operating Practices, including, without limitation, electric system reliability and stability, state or other regulatory mandates relating to renewable energy portfolio requirements, the cost of such action (including whether such cost is reasonable), the amount of notice of the need to take a particular action, the duration and type of purchase or sale or other action, and the commercial environment in which such purchase, sale, decision or other action occurs. "Commercially Reasonable" or "Commercially Reasonable Efforts" shall be reviewed and determined based upon the facts and circumstances known, or which could have been known with the exercise of reasonable efforts, at the time that a sale, purchase, or other action is taken and shall not be based upon a retroactive review of what would have been optimal at such time.

*"Commercial Operation"* means that (a) Seller has delivered to Buyer the Performance Assurance required under Section 9.3; (b) Seller has received all material Governmental

Approvals as may be required prior to commencing commercial operations by Applicable Law for the construction, operation and maintenance of the Project; and (c) the Project or any portion thereof, as applicable, is operating and able to produce and deliver, or make available for delivery, Energy at the Delivery Point.

"Commercial Operation Date" means the earlier of (a) the date on which Commercial Operation has occurred with respect to the full Expected Project Capacity and Seller has provided written notice of the Commercial Operation Date to Buyer; (b) 180 days after the Target Commercial Operation Date (as may be extended by Permitted Extensions); and (c) the date the Termination Option is exercised.

"Compliance Cost Cap" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.18.

"Compliance Costs" means all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses, including registration fees, volumetric fees, license renewal fees, external consultant fees and capital costs necessary for compliance, incurred by Seller and paid directly to third parties in connection with Seller's compliance with obligations under any Applicable Law in connection with, as applicable, the qualification of the Project as a renewable energy resource, the certification and transfer of Environmental Attributes, and compliance with the Transmission Owner and Transmission Provider regulations and requirements applicable to the Project due to a Change of Law after the Effective Date which requires Seller to incur additional costs and expenses in connection with any of such obligations, in excess of the costs and expenses incurred for such obligations under Applicable Law in effect as of the Effective Date.

"Confidential Information" has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1.

"*Connecting Utility*" means the Person that owns the portion of the electric transmission system at the Interconnection Point.

"Continuation Option" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4.

"Contract Price" has the meaning set forth in Exhibit A.

*"Contract Year"* means, after the Commercial Operation Date, a calendar year commencing HE 0100 on January 1 and ending on HE 2400 on December 31 of the same year; provided that, if this Agreement is terminated prior to its expiration, the Contract Year in which such termination occurs will end at HE 2400 on the termination date and if the Commercial Operation Date occurs a date other than January 1, the first Contract Year shall commence HE 0100 on the Commercial Operation Date, and all related provisions of this Agreement shall be adjusted for such condensed Contract Years on a pro rata basis.

"*Costs*" means, with respect to the Non-Defaulting Party, brokerage fees, commissions and other similar third party transaction costs and expenses reasonably incurred by such Party either in terminating any arrangement pursuant to which it has hedged its obligations or entering into new arrangements which replace a Terminated Transaction; and all reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses incurred by the Non-Defaulting Party in connection with such Terminated Transaction.

"Credit Rating" means, (a) with respect to Seller, the rating then assigned to Seller's unsecured, senior long-term debt obligations (not supported by third-party credit enhancements) or if Seller does not have a rating for its senior unsecured long-term debt, then the rating then assigned to Seller as an issues rating by the Rating Agencies; and (b) with respect to Buyer, the rating then assigned to Buyer's long-term bonds secured by revenues of the FMPA Solar III Project or, if Buyer does not have a rating for its long-term bonds or no such bonds are issued and outstanding, then either (i) the rating then assigned to the electric or integrated utility system of each FMPA Solar III Project Participant or (ii) the rating then assigned to the municipality of which the FMPA Solar III Project Participant is a department.

*"Creditworthy Entity"* means an entity has a Credit Rating of BBB- from S&P or Baa3 from Moody's with a stable outlook.

*"Curtailment Period"* means the period of time during which there is any curtailment of delivery of the Product resulting from a reduction (including curtailment to zero output or non-dispatch) of the net electrical output of the Project from levels of net electrical output the Project would otherwise be capable of producing, including during a Transmission Interruption that prevents Buyer from receiving Energy at or Seller from delivering Energy to the Delivery Point, as directed or caused by the Transmission Provider, a Governmental Authority, or Transmission Owner not due to actions or omissions of Seller or an Affiliate of Seller.

"Daily Delay Damages"

"Damages Rate" has the meaning set forth in Exhibit D.

*"Day" or "day"* means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours beginning at 00:00 hours local time at the Site location on any calendar day and ending at 24:00 hours local time at the Site location on the same calendar day.

"Deemed Delivered Energy" means the amount of Energy expressed in MWh that the Project would have produced and delivered to the Delivery Point, but that is not produced by the Project and delivered to the Delivery Point during a Buyer Curtailment Period, which amount shall be determined using relevant Project availability, weather and other pertinent data for the period of time during the Buyer Curtailment Period.

"Default Commercial Operation Date" means

"Delivered Energy" means Buyer's Share of all Energy produced from the Project and delivered or made available at the Delivery Point, which shall be net of all Station Service

and electrical losses associated with the transmission of the Energy to the Delivery Point, including, if applicable, any transmission or transformation losses between the Metering System and the Delivery Point.

*"Delivery Term"* means the period of time commencing upon the Initial Energy Delivery Date and terminating at the end of the Term.

*"Delivery Point"* means the point, more specifically described in Exhibit C, where Seller's Interconnection Facilities connect to the Transmission Owner's Interconnection Facilities, which shall be the point of interconnection under the Interconnection Agreement.

"Disclosing Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1.

"Dispute" has the meaning set forth in Section 17.1.

**"Downgrade Event**" refers to any point in time (a) with respect to either Party or its Guarantor's Credit Rating falls below Investment Grade; and (b) with respect to Buyer, (i) any Credit Rating of Buyer's long-term bonds secured by the revenues of the FMPA Solar III Project falls below Investment Grade; (ii) if Buyer does not have a Credit Rating for its long-term bonds or no such bonds are issued and outstanding, then (A) less than 65% of the FMPA Solar III Project Participant Entitlement Shares are held by FMPA Solar III Project Participants that have a Credit Rating, or (B) the Credit Ratings then assigned to the electric or integrated utility systems of FMPA Solar III Project Capacity or Installed Capacity, as applicable, falls below Investment Grade; or (iii) if the FMPA Solar III Project Participants in any FMPA Solar III Project Power Sales Contract are amended, modified or altered in a manner which materially adversely impacts the ability of the FMPA Solar III Project to perform and pay its obligations under this Agreement and Seller does not consent thereto, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

*"Early Termination Date"* has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(a).

"Effective Date" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

*"Energy"* means electric energy generated by the Project, which shall be in the form of three (3)-phase, sixty (60) Hertz, alternating current and expressed in units of megawatthours.

"*Environmental Attribute*" means any and all presently existing or future benefits, emissions reductions, environmental air quality credits, emissions reduction credits, greenhouse gas emissions, Renewable Energy Credits, offsets and allowances, green tag or other transferable indicia attributable to the Project during the Term, howsoever entitled or named, resulting from the generation of renewable energy or the avoidance, reduction, displacement or offset of the emission of any gas, chemical or other substance, including any of the same arising out of presently existing or future legislation or regulation concerned with oxides of nitrogen, sulfur or carbon, with particulate matter, soot or mercury, or implementing the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change ("UNFCCC") or the Kyoto Protocol to the UNFCCC or crediting "early action" emissions reduction, or laws or regulations involving or administered by the Clean Air Markets Division of the Environmental Protection Agency, or any successor state or federal agency given jurisdiction over a program involving transferability of Environmental Attributes, and any renewable energy certificate reporting rights to such Environmental Attributes. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, Environmental Attributes do not include: (a) any Tax Attributes, (b) state, federal or private grants related to the Project, (c) Energy, or (d) Capacity Attributes.

"*Equitable Defenses*" means any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and, with regard to equitable remedies, the discretion of the court before which proceedings may be pending to obtain same.

"Event of Default" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.

*"Executives"* has the meaning set forth in Section 17.2(a).

"Expected Project Capacity" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.

"*Fair Market Value*" means the amount that would be paid in an arm's length, free market transaction, for cash, between an informed, willing seller and an informed willing buyer, neither of whom is under compulsion to complete the transaction, taking into account, among other things, the age, condition and performance of the Project and advances in solar technology, provided that installed equipment shall be valued on an installed basis, shall not be valued as scrap if it is functioning and in good condition and costs of removal from a current location shall not be a deduction from the valuation.

*"FMPA Solar III Project"* means the joint-action solar project created by the FMPA Board of Directors pursuant to FMPA Resolution 2023-B##, dated XXXX, 2023.

"FMPA Solar III Project" <mark>[TBD]</mark>

"FMPA Solar III Project Participant Covenants" [TBD]

"FMPA Solar III Project Participant" [TBD]

"FMPA Solar III Project Participant Entitlement Share" [TBD]

"FMPA Solar III Project Power Sales Contract" [TBD]

*"Forced Outage"* means any unplanned reduction or suspension of the electrical output from the Project or unavailability of the Project in an amount greater than ten percent (10%) of the Installed Capacity in response to a mechanical, electrical, or hydraulic control system

trip or operator-initiated trip in response to an alarm or equipment malfunction, or any other unavailability of the Project for maintenance or repair that is not a Planned Outage, due to a Buyer Curtailment Order or during a Curtailment Period, or the result of a Force Majeure Event.

"Force Majeure Event" means any event or circumstance which wholly or partly prevents or delays the performance of any material obligation arising under this Agreement, other than the obligation to pay amounts due, but only to the extent (1) such event is not within the reasonable control, directly or indirectly, of the Party seeking to have its performance obligation(s) excused thereby, (2) the Party seeking to have its performance obligation(s) excused thereby has taken all reasonable precautions and measures in order to prevent or avoid such event or mitigate the effect of such event on such Party's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement and which, by the exercise of due diligence, such Party could not reasonably have been expected to avoid and which by the exercise of due diligence it has been unable to overcome, and (3) such event is not the direct or indirect result of the fault or negligence of the Party seeking to have its performance obligations excused thereby.

- (a) Subject to the foregoing, events that could qualify as a Force Majeure Event include, but are not limited to the following:
  - (i) acts of God, flooding, lightning, landslide, earthquake, fire, drought, explosion, epidemic, quarantine, storm, hurricane, tornado, volcano, other natural disaster or unusual or extreme adverse weather-related events;
  - (ii) war (declared or undeclared), riot or similar civil disturbance, acts of the public enemy (including acts of terrorism), sabotage, blockade, insurrection, revolution, expropriation or confiscation;
  - (iii) except as set forth in subpart (b)(vii) below, strikes, work stoppage or other labor disputes (in which case the affected Party shall have no obligation to settle the strike or labor dispute on terms it deems unreasonable);
  - (iv) environmental and other contamination at or affecting the Project;
  - (v) accidents of navigation or breakdown or injury of vessels, accidents to harbors, docks, canals or other assistances to or adjuncts of shipping or navigation, or quarantine;
  - (vi) nuclear emergency, radioactive contamination or ionizing radiation or the release of any hazardous waste or materials;
  - (vii) air crash, shipwreck, train wrecks or other failures or delays of transportation;
  - (viii) vandalism beyond that which could be reasonably prevented by Seller;
  - (ix) the discovery of Native American burial grounds not evidenced in Seller's Phase I environmental assessment of the Site;

- (x) the discovery of endangered species, as defined by Law; and
- (xi) breakdown or failure of equipment as a result of a serial manufacturer defect or flaw.
- (b) A Force Majeure Event shall not be based on:
  - (i) Buyer's inability economically to use or resell the Product purchased hereunder;
  - (ii) Seller's ability to sell the Product at a price greater than the price set forth in this Agreement;
  - Seller's inability to obtain Governmental Approvals or other approvals of any type for the construction, operation, or maintenance of the Project, except to the extent caused by a Force Majeure Event;
  - (iv) Seller's inability to obtain sufficient labor, equipment, materials, or other resources to build or operate the Project, except to the extent Seller's inability to obtain sufficient labor, equipment, materials, or other resources is caused by a Force Majeure Event;
  - (v) Seller's failure to obtain financing or other funds, including funds authorized by a state or the federal government or agencies thereof, to supplement the payments made by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement; or
  - (vi) a strike, work stoppage or labor dispute limited only to any one or more of Seller or Seller's Affiliates.

"Force Majeure Extension" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(b)(iii).

"Gains" means with respect to any Party, an amount equal to the present value of the economic benefit to it, if any (exclusive of Costs), resulting from the termination of this Agreement for the remaining Delivery Term, determined in a commercially reasonable manner. Factors used in determining economic benefit may include, without limitation, reference to information either available to it internally or supplied by one or more third parties, including, without limitation, quotations (either firm or indicative) of relevant rates, prices, yields, yield curves, volatilities, spreads or other relevant market data in the relevant markets, comparable transactions, forward price curves based on economic analysis of the relevant markets, settlement prices for comparable transactions at liquid trading hubs (e.g., NYMEX), all of which should be calculated for the remaining term of this Agreement and include the value, if any, of Environmental Attributes.

"Governmental Approvals" means all authorizations, consents, certifications, approvals, waivers, exceptions, variances, filings, permits, orders, licenses, exemptions and declarations of or with any Governmental Authority and shall include those siting and operating permits and licenses, and any of the foregoing under any applicable environmental law, that are required for the use and operation of the Project.

"Governmental Authority" means any national, state, provincial, local, tribal or municipal government, any political subdivision thereof or any other governmental, regulatory, quasi-governmental, judicial, public or statutory instrumentality, authority, body, agency, department, bureau, or entity having jurisdiction over either Party, the Project, the Site, Seller's Interconnection Facilities, the Transmission Owner's Interconnection Facilities, or the Transmission System, including the Transmission Provider and NERC; *provided*, *however*, that "Governmental Authority" will not in any event include any Party.

"Governmental Charges" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.2.

"Guarantor" means an entity which at the time it is to provide a Guaranty (a) has a Credit Rating of at least BBB from S&P or Baa2 from Moody's if rated by only one Ratings Agency or at least BBB- from S&P and Baa3 from Moody's if rated by both Ratings Agencies, and (b) is incorporated or organized in a jurisdiction of the United States and is in good standing in such jurisdiction.

"Guaranty" means a Guaranty substantially in the form of Exhibit E.

*"Initial Energy Delivery Date"* means the first date that Seller delivers or makes available Energy from the Project to Buyer at the Delivery Point.

"Initial Negotiation End Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 17.2(a).

"Initial Term" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

"Installed Capacity" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.

*"Interconnection Agreement"* means the interconnection service agreement or agreements entered into by and among, as applicable, the Transmission Provider, the Transmission Owner, and the Seller (or Seller's Affiliate and made available to Seller) pursuant to which the Project will be interconnected with the Transmission System.

*"Interconnection Delay"* has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(b)(i).

"Interest Payment Date" means the last Business Day of each calendar month.

*"Interest Rate"* means the lower of (i) annual rate equal to the Prime Rate then in effect plus ten percent (10%) and (ii) the maximum interest permitted by Applicable Law.

"*Interlocal Agreement*" means the Interlocal Agreement creating the Florida Municipal Power Agency, as amended and supplemented to date, and as the same may be amended or supplemented in the future.

"*Investment Grade*" means a Credit Rating of BBB- from S&P or Baa3 from Moody's with a stable outlook.

*"Letter(s) of Credit"* means one or more irrevocable, transferable standby letters of credit, substantially in the form of Exhibit F, issued by a U.S. commercial bank or a foreign bank with a U.S. branch with such bank having a Credit Rating of at least A- from S&P or A3 from Moody's, with a "stable outlook" by either S&P or Moody's and having assets of at , in a form acceptable to the Party in whose favor the letter of credit is

issued.

"Losses" means with respect to any Party, an amount equal to the present value of the economic loss to it, if any (exclusive of Costs), resulting from a Terminated Transaction for the remaining term of this Agreement, determined in a commercially reasonable manner. Factors used in determining the loss of economic benefit may include, without limitation, reference to information either available to it internally or supplied by one or more third parties including without limitation, quotations (either firm or indicative) of relevant rates, prices, yields, yield curves, volatilities, spreads or other relevant market data in the relevant markets, comparable transactions, forward price curves based on economic analysis of the relevant markets, settlement prices for comparable transactions at liquid trading hubs (e.g. NYMEX), all of which should be calculated for the remaining term of this Agreement and include the value, if any, of Environmental Attributes and, if applicable, the value of any resulting loss or recapture of Tax Attributes.

"Manager" has the meaning set forth in Section 17.2(a).

*"Metering System"* means all meters, metering devices and related instruments used to measure and record Energy and to determine the amount of such Energy that is being made available or delivered to Buyer at the Delivery Point for the purpose of this Agreement.

"Meter Owner" shall be the Party or other Person that owns the Metering System.

*"Moody's"* means Moody's Investor Service, Inc. or any successor thereto, or in the event that there is no such successor, a nationally recognized credit rating agency.

"MW" means a megawatt (or 1,000 kilowatts) of AC electric generating capacity.

"MWh" means a megawatt hour of Energy.

"NERC" means the North American Electric Reliability Corporation.

"Non-Defaulting Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.

"Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 18.1.

"Operating Procedures" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.11.

"PA Beneficiary" has the meaning set forth in Article 9.

*"PA Provider"* means the Party that has provided or is required to provide the applicable Performance Assurance.

"Parties" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

"Party" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

*"Performance Assurance"* means collateral provided by a Party to secure such Party's obligations hereunder. Performance Assurance may be in the form of (i) Letter(s) of Credit, (ii) Cash, (iii) Surety Bond and/or (iv) a Guaranty.

*"Permitted Extensions"* means the extensions to the Target Commercial Operation Date set forth in Section 4.2.

"Permitting Delay" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(b)(ii).

*"Person"* means an individual, partnership, corporation, business trust, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture, governmental entity, municipality, limited liability company or any other entity of whatever nature.

"Planned Outage" means the removal of the all or a portion of the Project from service availability for inspection and/or general overhaul of one or more major equipment groups. To qualify as a Planned Outage, the maintenance (a) must actually be conducted during the Planned Outage, and in Seller's sole discretion must be of the type that is necessary to reliably maintain the Project, (b) cannot be reasonably conducted during the Project's operations, and (c) causes the generation level of the Project to be reduced by at least ten percent (10%) of the Installed Capacity. To the extent there are multiple Project Offtakers, any reduction in generation will be allocated to Buyer pro rata based on Buyer's Share.

*"Prime Rate"* means the interest per annum equal to the prime rate as published in The Wall Street Journal or comparable successor publication under "Money Rates," as applied on a daily basis, determined as of the date the obligation to pay interest arises, but in no event more than the maximum rate permitted by Applicable Law.

"Product" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.

"Production Guarantee Damages" has the meaning set forth in Exhibit D.

"Production Shortfall" has the meaning set forth in Exhibit D.

"Project" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals to this Agreement.

"Project Cure Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(a).

"Project Investor" or "Project Investors" means any and all Persons or successors in interest thereof (a) lending money, extending credit or providing loan guarantees (whether directly to Seller or to an Affiliate of Seller) as follows: (i) for the construction, interim or permanent financing or refinancing of the Project; (ii) for working capital or other ordinary business requirements of the Project (including the maintenance, repair, replacement or improvement of the Project); (iii) for any development financing, bridge financing, credit support, credit enhancement or interest rate protection in connection with the Project; (iv) for any capital improvement or replacement related to the Project; or (v) for the purchase of the Project and the related rights from Seller; or (b) participating (directly or indirectly) as an equity investor (including a Tax Equity Investor) in the Project; or (c) any lessor under a lease finance arrangement relating to the Project.

"*Project Offtaker*" means the counterparty to a contract for the purchase of Energy. For the avoidance of doubt, the same entity may be deemed separate Project Offtakers to the extent it is party to multiple contracts for the purchase of Energy.

"Prudent Operating Practices" means the practices, methods and standards of professional care, skill and diligence engaged in or approved by a significant portion of the electric generation industry for solar facilities of similar size, type, and design, that, in the exercise of reasonable judgment, in light of the facts known at the time, would have been expected to accomplish results consistent with Applicable Law, reliability, safety, environmental protection and standards of economy and expedition. Prudent Operating Practices is not intended to be limited to the optimum practice, method, or act to the exclusion of all others, but rather to be acceptable practices, methods, or acts generally accepted in the industry.

"*Purchase Option Price*" means the applicable price set forth in the Purchase Option Price Table in Exhibit A.

"Qualified Transferee" means any person or entity that (a) has an equal or better credit rating than the Seller and satisfies the collateral requirements of the Seller set forth in the Agreement, (b) provides replacement Performance Assurance from a PA Provider with an Investment Grade Credit Rating and assets of at least **contraction**, (c) has (or has contracted with for the purpose of this Agreement), or is the subsidiary of an entity that has, a record of owning and/or operating, for a period of at least three (3) years, solar photovoltaic generating facilities with an aggregate nameplate capacity of no less than 100 MW, and (d) that expressly assumes in writing all obligations of the Seller under this Agreement.

"Ratings Agency" means either of S&P or Moody's.

"Receiving Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1.

"Referral Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 17.2(a).

"*Renewable Energy Credits*" or "*RECs*" means any credits, certificates, green tags or similar environmental or green energy attributes associated with one MWh of electricity generated by the Project created by the Applicable REC Program.

"Renewal Term" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

**"S&P"** means Standard & Poor's Rating Group or any successor thereto, or in the event that there is no such successor, a nationally recognized credit rating agency.

"Sales Price" means to the extent Seller, acting in a Commercially Reasonable manner, sells any Product that Buyer does not receive, (i) the price Seller actually receives for such Product, or at Seller's option, the market price at the Delivery Point for such Product not received as determined by Seller in a Commercially Reasonable manner; *less* (ii) any costs reasonably incurred by Seller in reselling such Product; provided, however, in no event shall the Sales Price include any penalties, ratcheted demand or similar charges, nor shall Seller be required to utilize or change its utilization of its owned or controlled assets, including contractual assets, or market positions to minimize Buyer's liability.

"SEC" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Seller" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

"Seller Excuses" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.5(a).

*"Seller's Interconnection Facilities"* means the interconnection facilities, control and protective devices and metering facilities required to connect the Project with the Transmission System up to, and on Seller's side of, the Delivery Point.

"Seller's Replacement Costs" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.5(c).

*"Settlement Amount"* means the Non-Defaulting Party's Costs and Losses, on the one hand, netted against its Gains, on the other.

"Site" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

*"Station Service"* means the electric energy from the Transmission System or produced by the Project that is used by the Project to power the lights, motors, control systems and other auxiliary electrical loads that are necessary for testing or operation of the Project.

"Surety Bond" means a bond, substantially in the form of Exhibit H, which provides for payment to the other Party upon demand and which is issued by a commercial entity with (i) a Credit Rating from one or both of S&P and Moody's, which Credit Rating is at least "A-" from S&P (if such entity has a Credit Rating from S&P) and "A3" from Moody's (if such entity has a Credit Rating from Moody's), in each case not on negative credit watch, and (ii) having a net worth of at least

"System Emergency" means a condition on the Transmission System, at the Project, or on Seller's Interconnection Facilities or Transmission Owner's Interconnection Facilities, which condition is likely to result in imminent significant disruption of service to Transmission System customers or is imminently likely to endanger life or property, and includes any condition during which Seller is directed by Transmission Provider to reduce or cease generation for any period of time on account of an emergency.

*"Target Commercial Operation Date"* means the date that is the latter of (a) 365 days after the Transmission Service Deadline and (b)

"Tax Attributes" means (a) investment tax credits (including any grants or payments in lieu thereof) and any other tax deductions or benefits under federal, state or other Law available as a result of the ownership and operation of the Project or the output generated by the Project (including, without limitation, tax credits, payments in lieu thereof and accelerated and/or bonus depreciation); and (b) present or future (whether known or unknown) cash payments, grants under Section 1603 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Tax Act of 2009 or outright grants of money relating in any way to the Project.

*"Tax Equity Investor"* means an investor that has acquired an equity interest in Seller pursuant to a financing structure that assigns such investor all rights, title and benefits to the Tax Attributes of Seller.

"Term" means the Initial Term plus any Renewal Terms.

*"Terminated Transaction"* means the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Section 7.2 of this Agreement.

"Termination Option" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4.

"Termination Payment" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3.

"*Test Energy*" means Buyer's Share of the Energy generated by the Project and delivered to the Delivery Point prior to the Commercial Operation Date.

"Transfer Taxes" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3(d).

*"Transmission Delay Damages"* means the liquidated damages Buyer shall owe Seller in the event Buyer is unable to receive any Delivered Energy due to a failure of obtaining transmission service by the Transmission Service Deadline, as calculated pursuant to Section 4.3.

"*Transmission Interruption*" means a transmission outage or curtailment directed or caused by the Transmission Owner, Transmission Provider or a Governmental Authority in connection with a System Emergency on the Transmission System that prevents or limits

Buyer's ability to receive Energy at the Delivery Point not due to actions or omissions of Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer.

"*Transmission Owner*" means the entity that owns the transmission or distribution system to which the Project interconnects.

*"Transmission Owner's Interconnection Facilities"* means the interconnection facilities and related assets that are or will be owned by the Transmission Owner that are required to connect the Project with the Transmission System, as further described in the Interconnection Agreement.

*"Transmission Provider"* means the regional transmission organization with jurisdiction over the location of the Site or, if none, then the applicable balancing authority for the Site. For the avoidance of doubt, the Transmission Provider and the Transmission Owner may be the same entity.

"*Transmission Service Deadline*" means the date that is one-hundred and twenty (120) days from Buyer's receipt from Seller of a copy of the final interconnection facilities study report for the interconnection of the Project.

*"Transmission System"* means the distribution or transmission system to which the Project interconnects.

## 1.2 Interpretation.

The following rules of construction shall be followed when interpreting this Agreement except to the extent the context otherwise requires:

(a) the gender (or lack of gender) of all words used in this Agreement includes the masculine, feminine, and neuter;

(b) words used or defined in the singular include the plural and vice versa;

(c) references to Articles and Sections refer to Articles and Sections of this Agreement;

(d) references to Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules refer to the Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules attached to this Agreement, each of which is made a part hereof for all purposes;

(e) references to Applicable Laws refer to such Applicable Laws as they may be amended from time to time, and references to particular provisions of an Applicable Law include any corresponding provisions of any succeeding Applicable Law and any rules and regulations promulgated thereunder;

(f) terms defined in this Agreement are used throughout this Agreement and in any Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules hereto as so defined;

(g) references to money refer to legal currency of the United States of America;

(h) the words "includes" or "including" shall mean "including without limitation;"

(i) the words "hereof," "hereby," "herein," "hereunder" and similar terms in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not any particular Article or Section in which such words appear, unless otherwise specified;

(j) all references to a particular entity shall include a reference to such entity's successors and permitted assigns but, if applicable, only if such successors and assigns are permitted by this Agreement;

(k) references to any agreement, document or instrument shall mean a reference to such agreement, document or instrument as the same may be amended, modified, supplemented or replaced from time to time;

(1) the word "or" will have the inclusive meaning represented by the phrase "and/or;"

(m) the words "shall" and "will" mean "must", and shall and will have equal force and effect and express an obligation; and

(n) the words "writing," "written" and comparable terms refer to printing, typing, and other means of reproducing in a visible form.

## ARTICLE 2 TERM

#### 2.1 *Term*.

The "Initial Term" of this Agreement shall commence on the date hereof and continue until the latter of (a) the date the Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms, or (b) the date that is 20 Contract Years following the Commercial Operation Date. Buyer shall have the option to request an extension of the term of this Agreement twice (each, a "Renewal Term") by providing Seller written request for extension no less than 425 days prior to the end of the Initial Term or the first Renewal Term, as applicable. Upon such request, Buyer and Seller shall commence good faith negotiations for the Contract Price for any such Renewal Term(s). Seller shall provide Buyer with written proposed Contract Price for such Renewal Term(s) no less than 395 days prior to the end of the Initial Term or the first Renewal Term, as applicable. Seller may extend the term of this Agreement by providing Seller written notice of extension no less than 365 days prior to the end of the Initial Term or the first Renewal Term, as applicable. If Buyer does not provide such written notice of extension, then Seller proposed Contract Price shall be deemed rejected and this Agreement shall terminate. Each Renewal Term shall commence at HE 0100 on the date immediately following the last day of the Initial Term or first Renewal Term, as applicable, and extend for a period of 5 years, unless sooner terminated in accordance with the terms hereof.

#### ARTICLE 3 OBLIGATIONS AND DELIVERIES

# 3.1 *Product.*

The "Product" to be delivered and sold by Seller and received and purchased by Buyer under this Agreement is the Delivered Energy and all associated Environmental Attributes and Capacity Attributes.

# 3.2 *Purchase and Sale.*

Unless specifically excused by the terms of this Agreement during the Delivery Term, Seller shall sell and deliver, or cause to be delivered, and Buyer shall purchase and receive, or cause to be received, the Product at the Delivery Point, and Buyer shall pay Seller for the Product in accordance with the terms hereof.

# 3.3 Contract Price.

(a) Seller shall provide no less than ten (10) days' notice prior to the Initial Energy Delivery Date, which shall not occur prior to the Transmission Service Deadline without the prior written consent of Buyer.

(b) Buyer shall pay Seller the Contract Price for all Test Energy.

(c) On and after the Commercial Operation Date, Buyer shall pay Seller for the Product an amount equal to the Contract Price for each MWh of Delivered Energy.

(d) In addition to the amounts otherwise payable by Buyer in accordance with this Section 3.3, Buyer shall pay all applicable sales, use excise, ad valorem, transfer and other similar taxes associated with the sale of Product by Seller to Buyer ("**Transfer Taxes**"), but excluding in all events taxes based on or measured by net income, that are imposed by any taxing authority arising out of or with respect to the purchase or sale of Product (regardless of whether such Transfer Taxes are imposed on Buyer or Seller), together with any interest, penalties or additions to tax payable with respect to such Transfer Taxes.

# 3.4 *Project Capacity.*

The "Expected Project Capacity" is the expected nameplate capacity of the Project as of the Effective Date, as set forth in Exhibit B. The "Installed Capacity" shall be the actual capacity of the Project that is able to generate and deliver Energy to the Delivery Point and has otherwise achieved Commercial Operation as of the Commercial Operation Date. Throughout the Delivery Term, Seller shall sell all Product solely to Buyer, except in the case of an Event of Default of Buyer or other failure of Buyer to receive the Product, or during a Force Majeure Event where Buyer is prevented from accepting delivery of the Product.

# 3.5 *Performance Excuses.*

(a) The obligations of Seller to deliver or make available the Product to Buyer at the Delivery Point shall be excused only (i) during periods of Force Majeure, (ii) by Buyer's failure to perform its obligation to receive the Product at the Delivery Point or other Buyer Event of

Default, (iii) during Curtailment Periods, (iv) during Buyer Curtailment Periods, and (v) during Planned Outages ("Seller Excuses").

(b) The obligations of Buyer to receive and pay for the Product shall be excused only (i) during periods of Force Majeure, (ii) by Seller's failure to perform its obligations to generate and deliver Product to the Delivery Point or other Seller Event of Default, or (iii) during a Transmission Interruption event ("**Buyer Excuses**").

(c) If Buyer fails to receive all or part of the Product and such failure is not excused due to Buyer Excuses, then Buyer shall pay Seller, on the date payment would otherwise be due in respect of the Month in which the failure occurred, an amount for such deficiency equal to the positive difference, if any, obtained by subtracting the Sales Price from the Contract Price ("Seller's Replacement Costs").

(d) Seller shall include in a monthly invoice delivered to Buyer pursuant to Section 8.1 the amounts owed by Buyer pursuant to Section (a) and a description, in reasonable detail, of the calculation of Seller's Replacement Costs.

#### 3.6 Offsets, Allowances and Environmental Attributes.

(a) Buyer shall be entitled to all Environmental Attributes resulting from the generation of Energy that is actually purchased by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement. Buyer shall not be entitled to any Environmental Attributes resulting from the generation of Energy that Buyer, for any reason, does not accept and purchase under this Agreement. Upon no less than twenty (20) Business Days' advance notice, Buyer may request Seller provide Buyer or Buyer's designee evidence of the transfer of the RECs on a quarterly basis during the Delivery Term in an Environmental Attributes Attestation and Bill of Sale substantially in the form attached as Exhibit I or, as applicable, an attestation that is the then-currently required attestation of the Applicable REC Program.

(b) Seller shall be entitled to all (i) federal and state production tax credits, investment tax credits and any other tax credits which are or will be generated by the Project, (ii) any cash payments, grants under Section 1603 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Tax Act of 2009 or outright grants of money relating in any way to the Project or Environmental Attributes, and (iii) any Environmental Attributes that the Buyer is not entitled to pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.6(a). Buyer acknowledges that Seller has the right to sell any Environmental Attributes to which it is entitled pursuant to this Section 3.6(b) to any Person other than Buyer at any rate and upon any terms and conditions that Seller may determine in its sole discretion without liability to Buyer hereunder. Buyer shall have no claim, right or interest in such Environmental Attributes.

(c) Seller shall bear all risks, financial and otherwise throughout the Term, associated with Seller's or the Project's eligibility to receive any Tax Attributes, or to qualify for accelerated or bonus depreciation for Seller's accounting, reporting or tax purposes, except to the extent Buyer incurs liability under this Agreement in connection with relevant Losses and indemnification obligations. The obligations of the Parties hereunder, including those obligations set forth herein regarding the sale, purchase and price for and Seller's obligation to generate and deliver the Product

and Environmental Attributes, shall be effective regardless of whether the generation of Product or sale and delivery of any Delivered Energy from the Project is eligible for, or receives Tax Attributes or to qualify for accelerated or bonus depreciation during the Term.

## 3.7 *Station Service.*

If Buyer or any of its Affiliates provides retail electric service in the service territory in which the Project is located, then if requested by Seller, Buyer or such Affiliate shall provide Station Service to the Project (including Seller's Interconnection Facilities) as requested by Seller during construction and operation of the Project at the rates and on the terms set forth in the applicable tariff(s) on a non-discriminatory basis with other customers in the same rate class as Seller.

## 3.8 Transmission.

(a) Seller shall be responsible for obtaining interconnection service for the Project so that Seller can deliver the Product to the Delivery Point in accordance with applicable Transmission Provider interconnection requirements. Seller shall be responsible for all costs to design, equip, construct and maintain the interconnection facilities necessary to deliver Energy from the Project to the Delivery Point. Seller shall be responsible for receiving Network Resource Interconnection Service (or its equivalent) from the Transmission Provider in accordance with the Transmission Provider's Large Generator Interconnection Procedures ("LGIP") including funding of any Network Upgrades, as defined in therein. In the event that Seller is not repaid all Seller-funded amounts for such Network Upgrades within five (5) years after the Commercial Operation Date, Seller may, subject to Buyer's consent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, assign to Buyer its rights under the LGIP and Interconnection Agreement to repayment of such unpaid amounts. For the avoidance of doubt, Buyer's consent may be withheld if, without otherwise limiting its right to reasonably withhold consent, Buyer is not reasonably satisfied with the terms and conditions of the Interconnection Agreement or other relevant agreement between Buyer and the Transmission Provider with regard to the Network Upgrade refunding or transmission credit procedures. If Buyer consents to such assignment, then Buyer shall pay to Seller each month an amount equal to the amount Buyer receives from Transmission Provider as a transmission credit or other form of reimbursement for such Network Upgrades during the preceding month until such time as Seller has been fully reimbursed for its Network Upgrade finding. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 3.8(a), Buyer shall not be obligated to pay Seller any amount related to the Network Upgrades for which Buyer has not received a related transmission credit or other form of reimbursement from the Transmission Provider.

(b) Buyer shall be responsible for arranging for all transmission services required to effectuate Buyer's receipt of the Product at and from the Delivery Point, including, without limitation, obtaining firm transmission service, in an amount of capacity equal to the Expected Project Capacity, and shall be responsible for the payment of any charges related to such transmission services hereunder, including, without limitation, charges for transmission or wheeling services, ancillary services, imbalance, control area services, congestion charges, transaction charges and line losses. The Parties acknowledge that the Contract Price does not include charges for such transmission services, all of which shall be paid by Buyer.

(c) In the event that the Transmission Provider or any other properly authorized Person exercising control over the Transmission Owner's Interconnection Facilities or the Transmission System takes any action or orders Seller or Buyer to take any action that affects Buyer's ability to take delivery of Energy hereunder not caused by or resulting from Seller's act or omission, a Curtailment Period, Transmission Interruption, or Force Majeure, Buyer shall use its Commercially Reasonably Efforts to attempt (at its own cost and expense) to mitigate the adverse effects of such action(s) on Buyer's ability to perform its obligations hereunder, including, without limitation, redispatching its other generation resources, if any.

# 3.9 Scheduling.

Buyer shall be responsible for the scheduling of all Delivered Energy during the Delivery Term, including, without limitation, arranging any Open Access Same Time Information Systems (OASIS), tagging, transmission scheduling or similar protocols with the Transmission Provider, Transmission Owner, or any other Persons. Buyer shall be responsible for the payment of all charges associated with such scheduling activities, including, without limitation, any imbalance charges.

# 3.10 Sales for Resale.

All Delivered Energy delivered to Buyer hereunder shall be sales for resale. Buyer shall provide Seller with any documentation reasonably requested by Seller to evidence that the deliveries of Delivered Energy hereunder are sales for resale.

# 3.11 *Operating Procedures.*

Seller and Buyer will endeavor to develop written operating procedures ("**Operating Procedures**") not less than sixty (60) days before the Initial Energy Delivery Date, which Operating Procedures shall only be effective if made by mutual written agreement of Seller and Buyer. The Parties agree that the Operating Procedures that they will endeavor to establish will cover the protocol under which the Parties will perform certain obligations under this Agreement and will include, but will not be limited to, procedures concerning the following: (1) the method of day-to-day communications; (2) key contacts for Seller and Buyer; and (3) reporting of scheduled maintenance, maintenance outages, Buyer Curtailment Orders, Force Majeure Events, and Forced Outages of the Project.

# 3.12 Regulatory Approvals.

(a) Seller and Buyer each agree to use their Commercially Reasonable Efforts to apply for promptly and to pursue diligently any required acceptances or approvals from Governmental Authorities for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or for the giving of effect to the expiration of this Agreement or any termination of this Agreement. This provision is not intended to subject this Agreement to the jurisdiction of any Governmental Authority that does not have such jurisdiction over this Agreement as of the Effective Date.

(b) Buyer shall apply for and shall diligently pursue designation of the Expected Project Capacity as a network resource or otherwise secure a firm delivery path for the Delivered Energy

from the Delivery Point to and over the Transmission System. Buyer shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to submit an application to obtain a network resource designation or similar firm transmission rights for the Expected Project Capacity not later than thirty (30) Business Days following the Effective Date and to secure such rights no later than the Transmission Service Deadline. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Seller shall not incur liability for any delays hereunder to the extent such delays are caused by Buyer's failure or inability to secure transmission service in accordance with this Section 3.13(b). Upon Buyer's request, Seller shall use Commercially Reasonable efforts to cooperate with Buyer and provide such information as necessary to assist Buyer in obtaining firm transmission service.

(c) Following the Effective Date of this Agreement, each Party shall promptly seek to obtain all other licenses, permits and approvals necessary to perform its obligations hereunder.

## 3.13 Standards of Care.

(a) Seller shall comply with all applicable requirements of Applicable Law, the Transmission Provider and NERC relating to the Project (including those related to construction, ownership, interconnection and operation of the Project).

(b) As applicable, each Party shall perform all generation, scheduling and transmission services in compliance with all applicable operating policies, criteria, rules, guidelines, tariffs and protocols of the Transmission Provider and Prudent Operating Practices.

(c) Seller agrees to abide by all applicable (i) NERC reliability requirements, including all such reliability requirements for generator owners and generator operators, and (ii) all applicable requirements regarding interconnection of the Project, including the requirements of the interconnected Transmission Owner and the Transmission Provider.

# 3.14 Buyer Curtailment.

Except to the extent compliance would directly cause loss or recapture of any Tax Attributes, Seller shall reduce Buyer's Share of generation from the Project as required pursuant to a Buyer Curtailment Order, provided that (a) the Buyer Curtailment Period shall not exceed the Buyer Curtailment Cap cumulatively per Contract Year (which may be consecutive or non-consecutive); and (b) Buyer shall pay Seller the Contract Price for Deemed Delivered Energy associated with a Buyer Curtailment Period. If multiple Project Offtakers issue overlapping Buyer Curtailment Orders, then any Deemed Delivered Energy during such period shall be allocated to Buyer on a pro rata basis in accordance with its Buyer's Share.

## 3.15 Outage Notification.

(a) Seller shall schedule Planned Outages for the Project in accordance with Prudent Operating Practices and with the prior written consent of Buyer, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. The Parties acknowledge that in all circumstances, Prudent Operating Practices shall dictate when Planned Outages should occur. Seller shall notify Buyer of its proposed Planned Outage schedule for the Project for the following calendar year by submitting a written Planned Outage schedule no later than August 1st of each year during the Delivery Term. The Planned Outage schedule is subject to Buyer's approval, which approval may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Buyer shall promptly respond with its approval or with reasonable modifications to the proposed Planned Outage schedule and Seller shall use its best efforts in accordance with Prudent Operating Practices to accommodate Buyer's requested modifications and deliver the final Planned Outage schedule to Buyer. Seller shall contact Buyer with any requested changes to the Planned Outage schedule if Seller believes the Project must be shut down to conduct maintenance that cannot be delayed until the next scheduled Planned Outage consistent with Prudent Operating Practices. Seller shall not change its Planned Outage schedule without Buyer's approval, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Seller shall not substitute Energy from any other source for the output of the Project during a Planned Outage.

(b) In addition to Planned Outages, Seller shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to promptly notify Buyer of any Forced Outage lasting for more than sixty (60) consecutive minutes. Such Notices shall contain information describing the nature of the Forced Outage, the beginning date and time of such Forced Outage, the expected end date and time of such Forced Outage, the amount of Energy that Seller expects will be provided to the Delivery Point during such Forced Outage, and any other information reasonably requested by Buyer. With respect to any such Forced Outage, Seller shall provide Buyer with such Notice by any reasonable means requested by Buyer, including by telephone or electronic mail.

(c) The Parties may agree to modify the procedures for coordinating outage notices from time to time and will codify such changes in the Operating Procedures. If the Operating Procedures conflict with this Section 3.15, then the Operating Procedures will control.

## 3.16 Operations Logs and Access Rights.

(a) Seller shall maintain a complete and accurate log of all material operations and maintenance information on a daily basis. Such log shall include, but not be limited to, information on power production, efficiency, availability, maintenance performed, Planned Outages, Forced Outages, results of inspections, manufacturer recommended services, replacements, electrical characteristics of the generators, control settings or adjustments of equipment and protective devices. Seller shall maintain this information for at least two (2) years and, to the extent consistent with Applicable Law, shall provide this information electronically to Buyer within fifteen (15) days of Buyer's reasonable request.

(b) Buyer, its authorized agents, employees or inspectors shall have the right to visit the Site up to five (5) times per calendar year during normal business hours upon reasonable advance Notice and for any purposes reasonably connected with this Agreement; *provided*, that Buyer shall observe all applicable Project safety rules that Seller has communicated to Buyer; provided further, that Buyer, subject to and without waiving its rights to sovereign immunity under Florida Statutes, shall indemnify Seller for damage to property or injury to persons to the extent caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission of Buyer, its authorized agents, employees, contractors, inspectors and other representatives while Buyer or such authorized individuals are at the Site or the Project. Buyer may request additional Site visits with Seller's consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed.

#### 3.17 Forecasting.

(a) Seller shall provide Buyer with forecasts of the delivery of Energy under this Agreement as described below. Such forecasts shall include the updated status of all Project equipment that may impact availability and production of Product, and other information reasonably requested by Buyer. Seller shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to forecast daily by 5:00 a.m. (EDT) the hourly delivery of Energy under this Agreement accurately and to transmit such information in the format agreed to by the Parties as set forth in the Operating Procedures. Buyer and Seller shall agree upon reasonable changes to the requirements and procedures set forth below from time-to-time, as necessary to accommodate changes to operating and scheduling procedures of Buyer and will document such updated requirements and procedures in the Operating Procedures.

(b) No later than: (i) forty-five (45) Days prior to the commencement of the first Contract Year; and (ii) September 1 of each calendar year for every subsequent Contract Year, Seller shall provide to Buyer a non-binding forecast of the hourly delivery of Energy under this Agreement for an average day in each month of the following calendar year in a form reasonably acceptable to Buyer.

(c) Ten (10) Business Days before the commencement of the first Contract Year, and thereafter ten (10) Business Days before the beginning of each month during the Delivery Term, Seller shall provide to Buyer a non-binding forecast of the hourly energy deliveries under this Agreement for each day of the following month in a form reasonably acceptable to Buyer.

(d) No later than 5:00 a.m. of each day, Seller shall provide Buyer a non-binding forecast of hourly Energy deliveries under this Agreement for the remainder of such day and the following seven (7) days in a form reasonably acceptable to Buyer. Each such Notice shall clearly identify, for each hour, Seller's forecast of all deliveries of Energy pursuant to this Agreement. In the event that Seller foresees that actual deliveries under this Agreement for any hour will be materially different than a forecast previously provided for such day, Seller shall, as soon as reasonably possible, provide Notice to Buyer of such change and an updated forecast.

## 3.18 Weather Station.

(a) No later than sixty (60) Days prior to the Commercial Operation Date, Seller, at its own expense, shall install and maintain at least one stand-alone meteorological station at the Site to monitor, measure, communicate and report the meteorological data required under Section 3.18(b). Seller shall maintain and replace the meteorological station as necessary to provide accurate data with respect to the location of the Project.

(b) Upon the Commercial Operation Date, and continuing through the end of the Delivery Term, Seller shall record and maintain the following data:

(i) real and reactive power production by the Project for each hour;

(ii) changes in operating status, outages and maintenance events;

(iii) any unusual conditions found during inspections;

(iv) any significant events related to the operation of the Project; and

(v) fifteen (15) minute and hourly time-averaged measurements from data samples at sixty (60) seconds or greater frequency for the following parameters at the Project: total global horizontal irradiance, total global radiation within the plane of the array, air temperature, relative humidity, wind direction and speed, back of module surface temperature, and other pertinent meteorological conditions.

(c) Buyer shall have real-time access to the required meteorological data at a frequency not to exceed every fifteen (15) minutes. Seller shall provide Buyer a report within thirty (30) days after the end of each month that provides the foregoing information for such month as well as any other additional information that Buyer reasonably requests regarding conditions at the Site and the operation of the Project that is collected and maintained by Seller in the ordinary course of Project operations.

(d) Seller shall make available to Buyer all data from any weather monitoring portals Seller elects to install at the Site.

(e) Subject to procedures agreed upon in the Operating Procedures, Buyer shall have the right to install equipment and associated communication infrastructure to enable Buyer to monitor, measure and communicate pertinent operation and weather data.

# 3.19 Compliance Cost Cap.

Costs applicable to the Compliance Cost Cap are only those costs applicable under the definition of "Compliance Costs" and are new costs associated with a Change of Law occurring after the Effective Date. The Parties agree that the Compliance Costs Seller shall be required to bear during the Delivery Term

## (collectively,

the "**Compliance Cost Cap**"). In the event and to the extent that the Compliance Costs incurred by Seller exceed the Compliance Cost Cap, Buyer shall either reimburse Seller for such Compliance Costs that exceed the Compliance Cost Cap, or excuse Seller from performing the obligations of this Agreement that would otherwise cause it to incur Compliance Costs in excess of the Compliance Cost Cap. Within sixty (60) Days after the Change of Law that Seller anticipates will cause it to incur Compliance Costs in excess of the Compliance Cost Cap, Seller shall provide to Buyer Notice with an estimate of the expected annual Compliance Costs caused by such Change of Law. Within thirty (30) Days of the delivery of such Notice with the estimate, Buyer shall provide Seller Notice of (i) Buyer's request for Seller to incur the Compliance Costs in excess of the Compliance Cost Cap, (ii) Buyer's initiation of dispute resolution under ARTICLE 17, or (iii) Buyer's waiver of Seller's performance of such obligations.

# 3.20 Production Guarantee.

Seller shall cause the Project to be operated in accordance with Prudent Operating Practices. Seller guarantees that the Delivered Energy will equal or exceed the Annual Energy Output Guarantee

of Energy in at least one of every two rolling Contract Years. If there is a Production Shortfall in any two rolling consecutive Contract Years, then Seller shall owe Buyer liquidated damages in an amount equal to (i) the Production Shortfall that occurred in the later of the two relevant Contract Years, multiplied by (ii) the Damages Rate (the "**Production Guarantee Damages**").

#### 3.21 Purchase Option.

(a) At the end of the tenth (10<sup>th</sup>), fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) and twentieth (20<sup>th</sup>) Contract Years, Buyer may elect to purchase the Project from Seller for a purchase price equal to the greater of (i) Fair Market Value or (ii) the Purchase Option Price that corresponds to the applicable Contract Year, as specified in Exhibit A.

(b) If Buyer intends to exercise the purchase option, Buyer shall notify Seller of its intent at least ninety (90) days and not more than one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the end of the applicable Contract Year and the Parties shall endeavor to complete the purchase and transfer by the end of the applicable Contract Year. Seller will provide in a timely manner, information regarding the Project which is reasonably requested by Buyer to allow Buyer to perform due diligence for the purchase of the Project.

(c) If Buyer has notified Seller of its intent to purchase the Project in accordance with Section 3.21(b), then the Parties shall determine Fair Market Value within forty-five (45) days of Buyer's notice. Within fifteen (15) days of Buyer's notice, Seller shall give written notice to Buyer of its determination of Fair Market Value, along with a full explanation of the calculation of Fair Market Value, including without limitation, an explanation of all assumptions, figures and values used in such calculation. If Buyer reasonably objects to Seller's determination of Fair Market Value, the Parties shall select a nationally recognized independent appraiser with experience and expertise in the solar photovoltaic industry to determine the Fair Market Value of the Project. Such appraiser shall act reasonably and in good faith to determine the Fair Market Value of the Project, and shall set forth such determination in a written opinion delivered to the Parties. The valuation made by the appraiser shall be binding upon the Parties in the absence of fraud or manifest error. The costs of the appraisal shall be borne by the Parties equally.

(d) Any purchase pursuant to this Section 3.21 shall be on an as-is, where-is basis, and Seller shall not provide any warranty or other guarantee regarding the performance of the Project; provided, however, that Seller shall assign to Buyer all manufacturer warranties that are in effect as of the purchase date. Without limiting the foregoing, the purchase shall occur pursuant to a form of purchase and sale agreement with customary representations, warranties and covenants and in form reasonably acceptable to the Parties.

(e) Any purchase pursuant to this Section 3.2.1 shall be for the entire Project – either as an undivided ownership interest buy Buyer, or in conjunction with the purchase by the FMPA Solar III Project of the remaining ownership interest of the Project not purchase by Buyer, provided that any joint purchase by Buyer and the FMPA Solar III Project shall be a simultaneous purchase of 100% ownership interest in the Project, with each such purchase by Buyer and the FMPA Solar III Project being expressly conditioned upon successful purchase of the remaining ownership share by FMPA Solar III Project and Buyer, respectively.

## ARTICLE 4 PROJECT DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION

## 4.1 *Project Development.*

Seller, at no cost to Buyer shall:

(a) Design and construct the Project.

(b) Establish and maintain interconnection rights for the Project that permit the full Expected Project Capacity to interconnect to the Transmission System in compliance with the Transmission Provider's transmission tariff and the Interconnection Agreement.

(c) Acquire all material Governmental Approvals for the construction, operation, and maintenance of the Project.

(d) Complete any environmental impact studies necessary for the construction, operation, and maintenance of the Project.

(e) At Buyer's reasonable request, provide to Buyer Seller's electrical specifications and design drawings pertaining to the Project.

(f) Within thirty (30) days after each calendar quarter following the Effective Date until the Commercial Operation Date, provide to Buyer a construction progress report substantially in the form attached in Exhibit L advising Buyer of the current status of the Project, the status of obtaining required Governmental Approvals, any significant developments or delays along with an action plan for making up delays, and Seller's best estimate of the Commercial Operation Date.

# 4.2 *Commercial Operation.*

(a) Seller shall cause the Project to achieve the Commercial Operation Date by the Target Commercial Operation Date, unless extended in accordance with Section 4.2(b).

(b) Permitted Extensions to the Target Commercial Operation Date are as follows (the "**Permitted Extensions**"):

(i) The Target Commercial Operation Date may be extended on a day-for-day basis for a cumulative period equal to no more than three hundred sixty (360) days if Seller has used Commercially Reasonable Efforts to have the Project physically interconnected to the Transmission System and to complete all Transmission Owner's Interconnection Facilities, if any, but such interconnection or Transmission Owner's Interconnection Facilities cannot be completed by the Target Commercial Operation Date for reasons beyond Seller's reasonable control and Seller has worked diligently to resolve the delay ("Interconnection Delay");

(ii) The Target Commercial Operation Date may be extended on a day-for-day basis for a cumulative period equal to no more than one hundred eighty (180) days if Seller has used commercially reasonable efforts to obtain permits necessary for the construction

and operation of the Project, but is unable to obtain such permits and Seller has worked diligently to resolve the delay ("**Permitting Delay**");

(iii) The Target Commercial Operation Date may be extended on a day-for-day basis for a cumulative period equal to no more than three hundred sixty (360) days in the event of Force Majeure ("Force Majeure Extension"); provided that Seller works diligently to resolve the effect of the Force Majeure and provides evidence of its efforts promptly to Buyer upon Buyer's written request; and

(iv) The Target Commercial Operation Date may be extended on a day-for-day basis for each day Buyer is liable to Seller for Transmission Delay Damages pursuant to Section 4.3(b).

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Seller claims more than one Permitted Extension under Section 4.2(b)(i)-(iii), such extensions cannot cumulatively exceed three hundred sixty (360) days and all Permitted Extensions taken shall be concurrent, rather than consecutive, during any overlapping days.

(d) If Seller claims a Permitted Extension, Seller shall provide Buyer Notice sixty (60) Days prior to the Target Commercial Operation Date, which Notice must clearly identify the Permitted Extension being claimed and include information necessary for Buyer to verify the length and qualification of the extension; provided that, in the event sixty (60) Days is impracticable or impossible, Seller shall provide as much advanced Notice as is reasonably possible.

# 4.3 *Cure Period and Delay Damages.*

(a) Seller shall cause the Project to achieve the Commercial Operation Date by the Target Commercial Operation Date. If the Commercial Operation Date occurs after the Target Commercial Operation Date after giving effect to Permitted Extensions and for reasons other than Buyer's failure to obtain transmission service by the Transmission Service Deadline in accordance with Section 3.8(b), then Buyer shall be entitled to draw upon the Seller's Performance Assurance for liquidated damages equal to Daily Delay Damages for each day or portion of a day that the Commercial Operation Date occurs after the Target Commercial Operation Date after giving effect to Permitted Extensions until the earlier of (i) the date that is one hundred and eighty (180) days after such date, and (ii) the Commercial Operation Date (the "**Project Cure Period**").

(b) Beginning on the Transmission Service Deadline, in the event that Buyer's failure to obtain transmission service in accordance with Section 3.8(b) results in Buyer's inability to receive Delivered Energy, then, subject to Section 4.3(c), Buyer shall owe Seller liquidated damages equal to the Transmission Delay Damages for each day or portion of a day that Buyer fails to receive such Delivered Energy.

(c) Notwithstanding Buyer's failure to obtain transmission service pursuant to Section 3.8(b) and resulting inability to receive all or part of the Delivered Energy, Seller shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to commence operations and deliver electricity from the Project, which shall include, if available, selling the Project output to a utility pursuant to the Public Utility

#### Regulatory Policies Act.

(d) Transmission Delay Damages shall be calculated as follows: (i) to the extent Seller sells electricity from the Project to a third party in accordance with Section 4.3(c), Buyer shall pay Seller only the positive difference between the Contract Price and sums received from the utility for any electricity sold pursuant to this Section 4.3; (ii) to the extent Seller is unable to deliver or sell any electricity that the Project is capable of generating despite using Commercially Reasonable Efforts as a result of Buyer's failure to obtain transmission service, Buyer shall pay Seller the full Contract Price for such electricity. In addition, in calculating the Transmission Delay Damages, Buyer shall pay Seller any reasonably incurred and documented costs corresponding to its efforts to sell the Delivered Energy to a third party. For the avoidance of doubt, Buyer shall also be liable to Seller pursuant to Section 11.3 to the extent Buyer's failure to obtain transmission service results in the full or partial loss or recapture of Tax Attributes.

(e) Each Party agrees and acknowledges that (i) the damages that the other Party would incur due to the delays described in this Section 4.3 would be difficult or impossible to predict with certainty and (ii) the Daily Delay Damages and Transmission Delay Damages are an appropriate approximation of such damages.

## 4.4 Project Capacity, Default Commercial Operation Date, and Termination Option.

(a) Seller shall provide Notice to Buyer no later than thirty (30) days prior to the Default Commercial Operation Date if it anticipates a Capacity Shortfall. Seller shall then provide Notice to Buyer no later than ten (10) Business Days after the Default Commercial Operation Date of the actual Capacity Shortfall, if any. Buyer shall have twenty (20) days after receipt of such notice to either: (i) elect to waive the obligation of Seller to complete the Capacity Shortfall, and neither Party shall have any further obligations with respect to the development, sale, delivery, receipt, or purchase of the Capacity Shortfall (the "**Termination Option**"); or (ii) elect to purchase any amount of Capacity Shortfall that achieves Commercial Operation in accordance with the terms of this Agreement after the Default Commercial Operation Date at the Contract Price (the "**Continuation Option**"). For avoidance of doubt, the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect at the Contract Price with respect to any Project capacity that achieved Commercial Operation as of the Default Commercial Operation Date.

(b) If Buyer elects the Continuation Option, then Seller shall continue to pursue Commercial Operation of any Capacity Shortfall. If there remains a Capacity Shortfall as of the Commercial Operation Date, Seller shall then provide Notice to Buyer no later than ten (10) Business Days after the Commercial Operation Date specifying the Installed Capacity. Subject to Seller's payment of both the Capacity Shortfall Damages as provided below and all applicable Daily Delay Damages pursuant to Section 4.3, the Seller's Performance Assurance will be reduced to reflect the Installed Capacity and all of Seller's Performance Assurance posted in excess of such Installed Capacity shall be promptly returned to Seller. Seller shall pay Buyer, as liquidated damages and not as a penalty, an amount (the "**Capacity Shortfall Damages**") equal to (c) Each Party agrees and acknowledges that (i) the damages that Buyer would incur due to the Capacity Shortfall would be difficult or impossible to predict with certainty, and (ii) the Capacity Shortfall Damages is an appropriate approximation of such damages. In order to satisfy the Capacity Shortfall Damages, Buyer shall have the right to immediately draw upon and apply the Seller's Performance Assurance to the payment of the Capacity Shortfall Damages. Seller's payment of the Capacity Shortfall Damages hereunder shall constitute Buyer's sole remedy for Seller's failure to achieve Commercial Operation of the Capacity Shortfall.

## ARTICLE 5 METERING AND MEASUREMENT

#### 5.1 *Metering System.*

The Parties shall ensure the Metering System is designed, located, constructed, installed, owned, operated and maintained in accordance with the Interconnection Agreement and Prudent Operating Practices in order to measure and record the amount of Energy delivered from the Project to the Delivery Point. The meters shall be of a mutually acceptable accuracy range and type. Seller shall be responsible for the cost of all metering that will be installed, owned, operated and maintained by the Meter Owner for the purpose of determining the amount of Energy delivered to the Delivery Point. Except in the event of a System Emergency or any order of a Governmental Authority, no one other than the Meter Owner shall make adjustments to the Metering System without the written consent of Meter Owner, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. If Buyer is the Meter Owner, then Seller, may, at its own cost, install additional meters or other such facilities, equipment or devices on Seller's side of the Delivery Point as Seller deems necessary or appropriate to monitor the measurements of the Metering System; provided, however, that in all cases Buyer will be entitled to rely upon its own Metering System.

#### 5.2 Inspection and Adjustment.

(a) The Meter Owner shall inspect and test the Metering System at such times as will conform to Prudent Operating Practices, but not less often than every Contract Year. Upon reasonable written request to the Meter Owner, the other Party may request, at its own expense, inspection or testing of any such meters more frequently than once every Contract Year.

(b) If any seal securing the metering is found broken, if the Metering System fails to register, or if the measurement made by a metering device is found upon testing to vary by more than one percent (1.0%) from the measurement made by the standard meter used in the test, an adjustment shall be made correcting all measurements of energy made by the Metering System during: (i) the actual period when inaccurate measurements were made by the Metering System, if that period can be determined to the mutual satisfaction of the Parties; or (ii) if such actual period cannot be determined to the mutual satisfaction of the Parties, the second half of the period from the date of the last test of the Metering System to the date such failure is discovered or such test is made ("Adjustment Period"). If the Parties are unable to agree on the amount of the adjustment to be applied to the Adjustment Period, the amount of the adjustment shall be determined: (A) by correcting the error if the percentage of error is ascertainable by calibration, tests or mathematical calculation; or (B) if not so ascertainable, by estimating on the basis of deliveries made under

similar conditions during the period since the last test. Within thirty (30) Days after the determination of the amount of any adjustment, Buyer shall pay Seller any additional amounts then due for deliveries of Energy during the Adjustment Period or Buyer shall be entitled to a credit against any subsequent payments for Energy, as the case may be.

(c) The Parties and their representatives shall be entitled to be present at any test, inspection, maintenance, adjustments and replacement of any part of the Metering System relating to obligations under this Agreement and the Meter Owner shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide no less than ten (10) Business Days' prior notice of any such test, inspection or other event.

#### ARTICLE 6 EARLY TERMINATION

#### 6.1 *Early Termination*.

(a) In addition to applicable termination rights otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, this Agreement may be terminated prior to the expiration of the Term as follows:

(i) By Seller within thirty (30) days after receipt of the final facilities study report from the Transmission Owner, if the estimated cost of Transmission Owner's Interconnection Facilities (as identified by the Transmission Owner) exceeds \_\_\_\_\_\_ dollars (\$\_\_\_\_\_) and Buyer has not agreed in writing to reimburse Seller for any overages;

(ii) By Seller if an Interconnection Agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Seller, in its sole commercially reasonable discretion, is not executed on or before on or before or

(iii) By Seller, in the event that Seller has not obtained the necessary fee, leasehold or other title to or interest in the Site and all Governmental Approvals necessary to construct and operate the Project in the manner contemplated by this Agreement and which are final and no longer subject to appeal or legal challenge, on or before

; *provided* that Seller gives Buyer Notice of such termination within fifteen (15) Days after such date.

(b) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in the event of termination pursuant to this Section 6.1, the Parties shall be released and discharged from any obligations arising or accruing hereunder from and after the date of such termination and shall not incur any additional liability to each other as a result of such termination, *provided* that such termination shall not discharge or relieve either Party from any obligation that has accrued prior to such termination or otherwise limit the survival provisions set forth in Section 19.1.

## ARTICLE 7 EVENTS OF DEFAULT

#### 7.1 *Events of Default.*

An "Event of Default" shall mean,

(a) with respect to a Party that is subject to the Event of Default the occurrence of any of the following:

(i) the failure by such Party to make, when due, any payment required pursuant to this Agreement and such failure is not remedied within ten (10) Business Days after Notice thereof;

(ii) the failure by such Party to satisfy, when due, any Performance Assurance requirements within ten (10) Business Days after receipt of Notice of such failure;

(iii) any representation or warranty made by such Party herein is false or misleading in any material respect when made or when deemed made or repeated, and such default is not remedied within thirty (30) Days after Notice thereof;

(iv) the failure by such Party to perform any material covenant or obligation set forth in this Agreement (except to the extent constituting a separate Event of Default) and such failure is not remedied within thirty (30) Days after Notice thereof; provided, however, that if such failure is not reasonably capable of being remedied within the thirty (30) Day cure period, such Party shall have such additional time (not exceeding an additional ninety (90) Days) as is reasonably necessary to remedy such failure, so long as such Party promptly commences and diligently pursues such remedy;

(v) such Party becomes Bankrupt;

(vi) such Party assigns this Agreement or any of its rights hereunder other than in compliance with Section 14.1;

(vii) such Party consolidates or amalgamates with, or merges with or into, or transfers all or substantially all of its assets to, another entity and, at the time of such consolidation, amalgamation, merger or transfer, the resulting, surviving or transferee entity fails to assume all the obligations of such Party under this Agreement to which it or its predecessor was a party by operation of Law or pursuant to an agreement reasonably satisfactory to the other Party; or

(b) with respect to Buyer as the Defaulting Party, the failure to obtain firm transmission service sufficient to receive the Delivered Energy at the Delivery Point in accordance with Section 3.13(b) by the Transmission Service Deadline, except to the extent Buyer secures interim transmission service sufficient to receive the Delivered Energy from the Transmission Service Deadline at the Delivery Point that becomes firm transmission service no later than the Default Commercial Operation Date; or

(c) with respect to Seller as the Defaulting Party, the occurrence of any of the following:

(i) if at any time, Seller delivers or attempts to deliver to the Delivery Point for sale under this Agreement Energy or Environmental Attributes that was not generated by or associated with the Project; or

(ii) Seller Abandons the Project.

#### 7.2 *Remedies; Declaration of Early Termination Date.*

If an Event of Default with respect to a Defaulting Party shall have occurred and be continuing, the other Party ("**Non-Defaulting Party**") shall have the right to one or more of the following:

(a) send Notice, designating a day, no earlier than the day such Notice is deemed to be received and no later than twenty (20) days after such Notice is deemed to be received, as an early termination date of this Agreement ("**Early Termination Date**");

(b) collect in connection with such Early Termination Date a Termination Payment;

(c) accelerate all amounts owing between the Parties and end the Delivery Term effective as of the Early Termination Date;

(d) withhold any payments due to the Defaulting Party under this Agreement;

(e) suspend performance; and

(f) exercise its rights pursuant to Section 9.3 to draw upon and retain Performance Assurance.

#### 7.3 *Termination Payment.*

On or as soon as reasonably practicable following the occurrence of an Early Termination Date, the Non-Defaulting Party will calculate the Termination Payment, which shall equal the Settlement Amount, net of any sums owed by the Non-Defaulting Party to the Defaulting Party. If the Termination Payment calculation yields a positive number, then the Defaulting Party shall owe the Termination Payment to the Non-Defaulting Party. If the Termination Payment calculation results in a negative number, then the Termination Payment shall be zero. The Non-Defaulting Party shall calculate, in a commercially reasonable manner, the Settlement Amount as of the Early Termination Date. Third parties supplying information for purposes of the calculation of Gains or Losses may include, without limitation, dealers in the relevant markets, end-users of the relevant product, information vendors and other sources of market information. The Settlement Amount shall not include consequential, incidental, punitive, exemplary, indirect or business interruption damages; provided, however, that any lost Environmental Attributes shall be deemed direct damages covered by this Agreement. Without prejudice to the Non-Defaulting Party's duty to mitigate, the Non-Defaulting Party shall not have to enter into replacement transactions to establish a Settlement Amount. Each Party agrees and acknowledges that (a) the actual damages that the Non-Defaulting Party would incur in connection with the termination of this Agreement would be difficult or impossible to predict with certainty, (b) the Termination Payment described in this section is a reasonable and appropriate approximation of such damages, and (c) the Termination Payment described in this section is the exclusive remedy of the Non-Defaulting Party in connection with the termination of this Agreement but shall not otherwise act to limit any of the Non-Defaulting Party's rights or remedies if the Non-Defaulting Party does not elect to terminate this Agreement as its remedy for an Event of Default by the Defaulting Party.

## 7.4 Notice of Payment of Termination Payment.

As soon as practicable after a designation of the Early Termination Date, Notice shall be given by the Non-Defaulting Party to the Defaulting Party of the amount of the Termination Payment and whether the Termination Payment is due to the Non-Defaulting Party. The Notice shall include a written statement explaining in reasonable detail the calculation of such amount and the sources for such calculation. The Termination Payment shall be made to the Non-Defaulting Party, as applicable, within ten (10) Business Days after such Notice is effective.

## 7.5 Disputes with Respect to Termination Payment.

If the Defaulting Party disputes the Non-Defaulting Party's calculation of the Termination Payment, in whole or in part, the Defaulting Party shall, within five (5) Business Days of receipt of the Non-Defaulting Party's calculation of the Termination Payment, provide to the Non-Defaulting Party a detailed written explanation of the basis for such dispute. Disputes regarding the Termination Payment shall be determined in accordance with ARTICLE 17. The Defaulting Party shall pay all undisputed portions of the Termination Payment and provide Performance Assurance equal to the disputed portion until final resolution of the dispute.

#### 7.6 *Rights and Remedies Are Cumulative.*

Except where liquidated damages are provided as the exclusive remedy, the rights and remedies of a Party pursuant to this ARTICLE 7 shall be cumulative and in addition to the rights of the Parties otherwise provided in this Agreement.

#### 7.7 Mitigation.

Any Non-Defaulting Party shall be obligated to use Commercially Reasonable efforts to mitigate its Costs and Losses resulting from any Event of Default of the other Party under this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE 8 PAYMENT

#### 8.1 Billing and Payment.

By the tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) day of each month beginning with the month following the Initial Energy Delivery Date and every month thereafter, and continuing through and including the first month following the end of the Delivery Term, Seller shall provide to Buyer an invoice covering the Product delivered in the preceding month determined in accordance with Article 4 (which may include preceding months), with all component charges and unit prices identified and all calculations used to arrive at invoiced amounts described in reasonable detail. Buyer shall pay the undisputed amount of such invoices on or before thirty (30) Days after Buyer receipt of the invoice. If either the invoice date or payment date is not a Business Day, then such invoice or payment shall be provided on the next following Business Day. Each Party will make payments by electronic funds transfer, or by other mutually agreeable method(s), to the account designated by the other Party. Any undisputed amounts not paid by the due date will be deemed delinquent and will accrue interest at the Interest Rate, such interest to be calculated from and including the due date to but

excluding the date the delinquent amount is paid in full. Invoices shall be sent by e-mail to address specified by Buyer, initially accounts.payable@fmpa.com.

### 8.2 Disputes and Adjustments of Invoices.

A Party may, in good faith, dispute the correctness of any invoice or any adjustment to an invoice for any arithmetic or computational error within twelve (12) months of the date the invoice, or adjustment to an invoice, was rendered. In the event an invoice or portion thereof, or any other claim or adjustment arising hereunder, is disputed, payment of the undisputed portion of the invoice shall be required to be made when due. Any invoice dispute or invoice adjustment shall be in writing and shall state the basis for the dispute or adjustment. Payment of the disputed amount shall not be required until the dispute is resolved. Upon resolution of the dispute, any required payment shall be made within two (2) Business Days of such resolution along with interest accrued at the Interest Rate from and including the original due date to but excluding the date paid. Inadvertent overpayments shall be returned upon request or deducted by the Party receiving such overpayment from subsequent payments, with interest accrued at the Interest Rate from and including the date of such overpayment to but excluding the date repaid or deducted by the Party receiving such overpayment. Any dispute with respect to an invoice is waived if the other Party is not notified in accordance with this Section 8.2 within twelve (12) months after the invoice is rendered or subsequently adjusted, except to the extent any misinformation was from a third party not Affiliated with any Party and such third party corrects its information after the twelve-month period. If an invoice is not rendered within twelve (12) months after the close of the month during which performance occurred, the right to payment for such performance is waived.

#### ARTICLE 9 INSURANCE, CREDIT AND COLLATERAL REQUIREMENTS

#### 9.1 Insurance.

In connection with Seller's performance of its duties and obligations under this Agreement, during the Delivery Term, Seller shall maintain insurance in accordance with Exhibit G.

#### 9.2 Grant of Security Interest.

To the extent a PA Provider delivers Performance Assurance hereunder, it hereby grants to the other Party (the "**PA Beneficiary**") a present and continuing first priority security interest in, and lien on (and right of setoff against), and assignment of, all cash collateral and cash equivalent collateral and any and all proceeds resulting therefrom or the liquidation thereof, whether now or hereafter held by, on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the PA Beneficiary, and each Party agrees to take such action as the other Party reasonably requires in order to perfect the PA Beneficiary's first-priority security interest in, and lien on (and right of setoff against), such collateral and any and all proceeds resulting therefrom or from the liquidation thereof. Upon or any time after the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default by the PA Provider or an Early Termination Date as a result thereof, the PA Beneficiary may do any one or more of the following: (i) exercise any of the rights and remedies of a secured party with respect to all Performance Assurance, including any such rights and remedies under Applicable Law then in effect; (ii)

exercise its rights of setoff against such collateral and any and all proceeds resulting therefrom or from the liquidation thereof; (iii) draw on any outstanding Letter of Credit issued for its benefit; and (iv) liquidate all or any portion of any Performance Assurance then held by or for the benefit of the PA Beneficiary free from any claim or right of any nature whatsoever of PA Provider, including any equity or right of purchase or redemption. PA Beneficiary shall apply the proceeds of the collateral realized upon the exercise of any such rights or remedies to reduce the PA Provider's obligations under the Agreement (the PA Provider remaining liable for any amounts owing to the PA Beneficiary after such application), subject to PA Beneficiary's obligation to return any surplus proceeds remaining after such obligations are satisfied in full.

#### 9.3 *Performance Assurance.*

(a) <u>Seller's Performance Assurance</u>. Seller agrees to deliver to Buyer and thereafter maintain in full force and effect for the remainder of the Term, Performance Assurance in the amount

, as applicable, within thirty (30) Days following the

Effective Date.

(b) <u>Buyer's Performance Assurance</u>. If Buyer is not a Creditworthy Entity as of the Effective Date or at any time after the Effective Date is subject to a Downgrade Event, then, within sixty (60) days after the Effective Date or Downgrade Event, as applicable, and for such periods as Buyer is not a Creditworthy Entity, Buyer shall provide Seller with Performance Assurance in the amount

, as applicable.

(i) If at any time during the Term Buyer becomes a Creditworthy Entity, then Buyer will not be required to provide Buyer's Performance Assurance and Seller shall refund any unused portion of Buyer's Performance Assurance within thirty (30) Days of receipt of Notice and verification of its status as a Creditworthy Entity.

(c) Any sum due under this Agreement (other than disputed amounts) and not satisfied within thirty (30) Days of becoming due and owing may be satisfied by a Party by a draw on Performance Assurance until such Performance Assurance has been exhausted. In addition, upon termination, a Party shall have the right to draw upon Performance Assurance for any undisputed amounts owed under this Agreement if not paid when due pursuant to Section 8.1. Performance Assurance shall not be subject to replenishment.

(d) A PA Beneficiary shall prudently invest any cash held as Performance Assurance in a manner that is the same or substantially similar to the manner in which such Party invests its own cash and shall pay interest equivalent to the interest earned on such cash held. Any interest earned will be returned annually prior to January 31<sup>st</sup> following each calendar year.

(e) If, during the Term, there shall occur a Downgrade Event in respect to a Party's Guarantor, then the applicable PA Provider shall deliver to the PA Beneficiary replacement Performance Assurance within ten (10) Days of such Downgrade Event.

(f) A Party's obligation to maintain Performance Assurance shall terminate upon the occurrence of the following: (i) the Term of the Agreement has ended, or an the Agreement has been terminated pursuant to Section 7.2, as applicable; and (ii) all payment obligations of the PA Provider arising under this Agreement, Termination Payment, indemnification payments or other damages are paid in full. Upon the occurrence of the foregoing, each Party shall promptly return to the other Party the unused portion of the applicable Performance Assurance, including the payment of any interest due thereon.

(g) Any Letter of Credit provided pursuant to this Agreement must provide, among other things, that the PA Beneficiary is entitled to draw the full amount of such Letter of Credit if: (i) the Letter of Credit has not been renewed or replaced within thirty (30) days prior to the expiration date of the Letter of Credit; or (ii) the issuer of the Letter of Credit fails to maintain a credit rating of at least A- from S&P and a rating of at least A3 from Moody's and the Party required to provide the Letter of Credit has failed, within ten (10) Business Days after receipt of Notice thereof by the PA Beneficiary to replace such Letter of Credit with another Letter of Credit, in a form reasonably acceptable to the issuer of the Letter of Credit and PA Beneficiary. Costs of a Letter of Credit shall be borne by the PA Provider.

#### ARTICLE 10 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

#### **10.1** *Representations and Warranties.*

On the Effective Date, each Party represents and warrants to the other Party that:

(a) it is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation;

(b) it has or will obtain in accordance herewith all Governmental Approvals necessary for it to perform its obligations under this Agreement, other than those Governmental Approvals that are not required to be obtained, and, as to Seller, all Governmental Approvals and all rights, title and interest in and to the Site and as otherwise necessary to construct, operate and maintain the Project and related interconnection facilities, as of the Effective Date;

(c) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement is within its powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary action and do not violate any of the terms and conditions in its governing documents, any contracts to which it is a party or any Applicable Law;

(d) this Agreement and each other document executed and delivered in accordance with this Agreement constitutes a legally valid and binding obligation enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to any Equitable Defenses;

(e) it is not Bankrupt and there are no proceedings pending or being contemplated by it or, to its knowledge, threatened against it which would result in it being or becoming Bankrupt;

(f) except as may be set forth in its reports filed with the SEC, there is not pending or, to its knowledge, threatened against it or any of its Affiliates any legal proceedings that could

reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement; and

(g) it is acting for its own account, has made its own independent decision to enter into this Agreement and as to whether this Agreement is appropriate or proper for it based upon its own judgment, is not relying upon the advice or recommendations of the other Party in so doing, and is capable of assessing the merits of and understanding, and understands and accepts, the terms, conditions and risks of this Agreement.

#### **10.2** General Covenants.

Each Party covenants that throughout the Term:

(a) it shall continue to be duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Applicable Laws of the jurisdiction of its formation;

(b) it shall maintain (or obtain from time to time as required, including through renewal, as applicable) all Governmental Approvals necessary for it to legally perform its obligations under this Agreement; and

(c) it shall perform its obligations under this Agreement in a manner that does not violate any of the terms and conditions in its governing documents, any material contracts to which it is a party or any Applicable Law or Governmental Approval.

#### **10.3** Seller Covenants.

Seller covenants as follows:

(a) that, from the Initial Energy Delivery Date through the expiration or termination of this Agreement, the Project shall be operated and maintained in all material respects in accordance with this Agreement, Applicable Laws, Governmental Approvals and Prudent Operating Practices; and

(b) throughout the Term that it, or its permitted successors or assigns, shall maintain ownership of a fee, easement, long-term leasehold interest, or other similar asset ownership interest in the Project.

## 10.4 Buyer's Covenants.

Buyer covenants as follows:

(a) from the date hereof through the expiration or termination of this Agreement, Buyer shall comply in all material respects with this Agreement and Applicable Laws.

(b) Buyer will, at Seller's expense, reasonably cooperate with Seller in opposing, and will not support any action of any regulatory body having jurisdiction thereover that could result in the modification or vitiation of any of the terms or conditions hereof or have any other material adverse effect on Seller, the Project or this Agreement.

(c) Buyer shall not treat this Agreement for tax purposes as a lease of the Project rather than a service contract; Buyer shall not take an ownership interest in the Project during the first five (5) Contract Years following the Commercial Operation Date (for the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Agreement permits Buyer to take an ownership interest in the Project); and Buyer shall not take any action or inaction in breach of this Agreement or otherwise fail to obtain transmission service in a manner that would prevent the Project from being placed in service for tax purposes prior to the Default Commercial Operation Date.

(d) Buyer covenants that from the date hereof through the expiration or termination of this Agreement, Buyer shall (i) establish and maintain FMPA Solar III Project Participant payment obligations pursuant to the FMPA Solar III Project Power Sales Contracts at amounts sufficient to meet FMPA's costs and liabilities lawfully owed under this Agreement; (ii) deliver written Notice to Seller of (A) any defaults occurring under any FMPA Solar III Project Power Sales Contract that are not cured by the applicable cure period and (B) any changes to the list of FMPA Solar III Project Participants set forth in Exhibit K; and (iii) not agree to any amendment, modification or alteration of any FMPA Solar III Project Power Sales Contract that would materially adversely affect the FMPA Solar III Project Participant Covenants without the prior written consent of Seller, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

(e) Buyer shall enforce the provisions of the FMPA Solar III Project Power Sales Contracts and duly perform its covenants and agreements thereunder; provided, however, that notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in the event of the failure of an FMPA Solar III Project Participant to observe the FMPA Solar III Project Participant Covenants, such failure shall be considered a Downgrade Event (without limiting Events of Default) and the sole and exclusive remedy of Seller for such failure shall be the delivery by Buyer to Seller of Performance Assurance in the form of a Letter of Credit or cash in an amount equal to the then applicable amount of Buyer's Performance Assurance.

#### ARTICLE 11 TITLE, RISK OF LOSS, INDEMNITIES

## 11.1 *Title and Risk of Loss.*

Title to and risk of loss related to the Product shall transfer from Seller to Buyer at the Delivery Point. Seller warrants that it will deliver to Buyer the Product free and clear of all liens, security interests, claims and encumbrances or any interest therein or thereto by any person arising prior to or at the Delivery Point.

#### 11.2 Indemnities by Seller.

Seller shall release, indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Buyer, its Affiliates, and its and their directors, officers, employees, agents, and representatives against and from any and all actions, suits, losses, costs, damages, injuries, liabilities, claims, demands, penalties and interest, including

reasonable costs and attorneys' fees ("Claims") resulting from, or arising out of or in any way connected with (i) any event, circumstance, act, or incident relating to the Product delivered under this Agreement up to and at the Delivery Point, (ii) Seller's development, permitting, construction, ownership, operation and/or maintenance of the Project, (iii) the failure by Seller or the failure of the Project to comply with Applicable Laws, (iv) any Governmental Charges for which Seller is responsible hereunder, or (v) any liens, security interests, encumbrances, or other adverse claims against the Product delivered hereunder made by, under, or through Seller, in all cases including, without limitation, any Claim for or on account of injury, bodily or otherwise, to or death of persons, or for damage to or destruction of property belonging to Buyer, Seller, or others, excepting only such Claim to the extent caused by the willful misconduct or gross negligence of Buyer, its Affiliates, and its and their directors, officers, employees, agents, and representatives.

#### 11.3 Indemnities by Buyer.

To the fullest extent permitted by Florida law, subject to and without waiving its rights to sovereign immunity under Florida law, Buyer shall release, indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Seller, its Affiliates, and its and their directors, officers, employees, agents, and representatives against and from any and all Claims resulting from, or arising out of or in any way connected with (i) any event, circumstance, act, or incident relating to the Product received by Buyer under this Agreement after the Delivery Point, (ii) the failure by Buyer to comply with Applicable Laws, (iii) Buyer's breach of this Agreement, or (iv) any Governmental Charges for which Buyer is responsible hereunder, in all cases including, without limitation, any Claim for or on account of injury, bodily or otherwise, to or death of persons, or for damage to or destruction of property belonging to Buyer, Seller, or others, excepting only such Claim to the extent caused by the willful misconduct or gross negligence of Seller, its Affiliates, and its and their directors, officers, employees, agents, and representatives.

#### ARTICLE 12 GOVERNMENTAL CHARGES

#### 12.1 Cooperation.

Each Party shall use reasonable efforts to implement the provisions of and to administer this Agreement in accordance with the intent of the Parties to minimize all taxes, so long as neither Party incurs any cost, expense, risk, obligation or liability or is otherwise materially adversely affected by such efforts.

#### 12.2 Governmental Charges.

Seller shall pay or cause to be paid all taxes imposed by any governmental authority ("**Governmental Charges**") on or with respect to the Product or the transaction under this Agreement arising prior to and at the Delivery Point, including, but not limited to, ad valorem taxes and other taxes attributable to the Project, land, land rights or interests in land for the Project. Buyer shall pay or cause to be paid all Governmental Charges on or with respect to the Product or the transaction under this Agreement at and after the Delivery Point. In the event Seller is required by Applicable Law or regulation to remit or pay Governmental Charges which are Buyer's

responsibility hereunder, Buyer shall promptly reimburse Seller for such Governmental Charges. If Buyer is required by Applicable Law or regulation to remit or pay Governmental Charges which are Seller's responsibility hereunder, Buyer may deduct such amounts from payments to Seller with respect to payments under the Agreement; if Buyer elects not to deduct such amounts from Seller's payments, Seller shall promptly reimburse Buyer for such amounts upon request. Nothing shall obligate or cause a Party to pay or be liable to pay any Governmental Charges for which it is exempt under Applicable Law.

#### ARTICLE 13 CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

#### 13.1 Confidential Information.

(a) The Parties have and will develop certain information, processes, know-how, techniques and procedures concerning the Project that they consider confidential and proprietary (together with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the "Confidential Information"). Notwithstanding the confidential and proprietary nature of such Confidential Information, the Parties (each, the "**Disclosing Party**") may make such Confidential Information available to the other (each, a "**Receiving Party**") subject to the provisions of this Section 13.1.

(b) Upon receiving or learning of Confidential Information, the Receiving Party shall:

(i) Treat such Confidential Information as confidential and use reasonable care not to divulge such Confidential Information to any third party except as required by law, subject to the restrictions set forth below;

(ii) Restrict access to such Confidential Information to only those employees, subcontractors, suppliers, vendors, and advisors whose access is reasonably necessary for the development, construction, operation or maintenance of the Project and for the purposes of this Agreement who shall be bound by the terms of this Section 13.1;

(iii) Use such Confidential Information solely for the purpose of developing the Project and for purposes of this Agreement; and

(iv) Upon the termination of this Agreement, destroy or return any such Confidential Information in written or other tangible form and any copies thereof; provided, however, that either Party shall be entitled to keep a record copy of such information to the extent required by Florida law.

(c) The restrictions of this Section 13.1 do not apply to:

(i) Release of this Agreement or Confidential Information to any Governmental Authority required for obtaining any approval or making any filing pursuant to Sections 3.12 or 12.2, *provided* that each Party agrees to cooperate in good faith with the other to maintain the confidentiality of the provisions of this Agreement and the Confidential Information by requesting confidential treatment with all filings to the extent appropriate and permitted by Applicable Law;

(ii) Information which is, or becomes, publicly known or available other than through the action of the Receiving Party in violation of this Agreement;

(iii) Information which is in the possession of the Receiving Party prior to receipt from the Disclosing Party or which is independently developed by the Receiving Party, *provided* that the Person or Persons developing such information have not had access to any Confidential Information;

(iv) Information which is received from a third party which is not known (after due inquiry) by Receiving Party to be prohibited from disclosing such information pursuant to a contractual, fiduciary or legal obligation; and

(v) Information which is, in the reasonable written opinion of counsel of the Receiving Party, required to be disclosed pursuant to Applicable Law (including, without limitation, any request pursuant to Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes, or other state or federal public records law, freedom of information act, or other similarly title law); *provided, however,* that the Receiving Party, prior to such disclosure, shall provide reasonable advance Notice to the Disclosing Party of the time and scope of the intended disclosure in order to provide the Disclosing Party an opportunity to obtain, at its sole expense, a protective order or otherwise seek to prevent, limit the scope of, or impose conditions upon such disclosure.

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller may disclose Confidential Information to the Project Investors and any other financial institutions expressing an interest in providing equity or debt financing or refinancing and/or credit support to Seller, and the agent or trustee of any of them, any advisors, consultants, insurance providers, brokers of Seller, Project Investors or other financial institutions.

(e) Neither Party shall issue any press or publicity release or otherwise release, distribute or disseminate any information, with the intent that such information will be published (other than information that is, in the reasonable written opinion of counsel to the Disclosing Party, required to be distributed or disseminated pursuant to Applicable Law, *provided* that the Disclosing Party has given Notice to, and an opportunity to prevent disclosure by, the other Party as provided in Section 13.1(c)(v)), concerning this Agreement or the participation of the other Party, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. This provision shall not prevent the Parties from releasing information which is required to be disclosed in order to obtain permits, licenses, releases and other approvals relating to the Project or as are necessary in order to fulfill such Party's obligations under this Agreement.

(f) The obligations of the Parties under this Section 13.1 shall remain in full force and effect for three (3) years following the expiration or termination of this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE 14 ASSIGNMENT

#### 14.1 Successors and Assigns; Assignment.

(a) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the Parties and their respective successors and assigns. This Agreement shall not be assigned or transferred by either Party without the prior written consent of the other Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, no consent shall be required for the following:

(i) Any assignment of this Agreement by Seller to any Project Investors as collateral security for obligations under the financing documents entered into with such Project Investors;

(ii) Any assignment by the Project Investors to a third party after the Project Investors have exercised their foreclosure rights with respect to this Agreement or the Project;

(iii) Any assignment or transfer of this Agreement by Seller to an Affiliate of Seller; or

(iv) Any assignment or transfer of this Agreement by Seller to a Person succeeding to all or substantially all of the assets of Seller, provided that such Person is a Qualified Transferee.

(c) An assignee shall be afforded no additional rights, interests or remedies beyond those specifically granted to the assignor in this Agreement. The Party seeking to assign or transfer this Agreement shall be solely responsible for paying all costs and expenses, including attorney's and advisor fees of any such assignment.

(d) Buyer acknowledges that upon an event of default under any financing documents relating to the Project, subject to receipt by Buyer of Notice, any of the Project Investors may (but shall not be obligated to) assume, or cause its designee or a new lessee or buyer of the Project that is a Qualified Transferee to assume, all of the interests, rights and obligations of Seller thereafter arising under this Agreement, provided that Buyer's interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement will remain in full force and effect.

(e) If the rights and interests of Seller in this Agreement shall be assumed, sold or transferred as herein provided, and the assuming party shall agree in writing to be bound by and to assume, the terms and conditions hereof and any and all obligations to Buyer arising or accruing hereunder from and after the date of such assumption, then Seller shall be released and discharged from the terms and conditions hereof and each such obligation hereunder from and after such date, and Buyer shall continue this Agreement with the assuming party as if such Person had been named as Seller under this Agreement. Notwithstanding any such assumption by any of the Project Investors or a designee thereof, Seller shall not be released and discharged from and shall remain liable for any and all obligations to Buyer arising or accruing hereunder prior to such assumption.

(f) The provisions of this ARTICLE 14 are for the benefit of the Project Investors as well as the Parties hereto, and shall be enforceable by the Project Investors as express third-party

beneficiaries hereof. Buyer hereby agrees that none of the Project Investors, nor any bondholder or participant for whom they may act or any trustee acting on their behalf, shall be obligated to perform any obligation or be deemed to incur any liability or obligation provided in this Agreement on the part of Seller or shall have any obligation or liability to Buyer with respect to this Agreement except to the extent any of them becomes a party hereto pursuant to this ARTICLE 14.

#### 14.2 Collateral Assignment.

(a) Seller, without approval of Buyer, may, by security, charge or otherwise encumber its interest under this Agreement in favor of a Project Investor for the purposes of financing the development, construction and/or operation of the Project and the Seller's Interconnection Facilities.

(b) Promptly after making such encumbrance, Seller shall notify Buyer in writing of the name, address, and telephone and facsimile numbers of each Project Investor to which Seller's interest under this Agreement has been encumbered. Such Notice shall include the names of the account managers or other representatives of the Project Investors to whom all written and telephonic communications should be addressed.

(c) After giving Buyer such initial Notice, Seller shall promptly give Buyer Notice of any change in the information provided in the initial Notice or any revised Notice.

(d) If Seller encumbers its interest under this Agreement as permitted by this Section 14.2, the following provisions shall apply:

(i) The Parties, except as provided by the terms of this Agreement, shall not modify or cancel this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Project Investors;

(ii) The Project Investors or their designees shall have the right, but not the obligation, to perform any act required to be performed by Seller under this Agreement to prevent or cure an Event of Default by Seller and such act performed by the Project Investors or their designees shall be as effective to prevent or cure an Event of Default as if done by Seller, provided that, if any such Project Investor or its designee elects to perform any act required to be performed by Seller under this Agreement to prevent or cure an Event of Default as if done by Seller, provided that, if any such Project Investor or its designee elects to perform any act required to be performed by Seller under this Agreement to prevent or cure an Event of Default by Seller, Buyer will not be deemed to have waived or relinquished its rights and remedies as provided in this Agreement;

(iii) Buyer shall upon request by Seller execute statements certifying that this Agreement is unmodified (or, modified and stating the nature of the modification), in full force and effect and, to the knowledge of Buyer, the absence or existence (and the nature thereof) of Events of Default hereunder by Seller and documents of consent to such assignment to the encumbrance and any assignment to such Project Investors; and

(iv) Upon the receipt of a written request from Seller or any Project Investor, Buyer shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to execute, or arrange for the delivery of, such certificates, opinions and other documents as may be reasonably necessary in order for Seller to consummate any financing or refinancing of the Project or any part thereof and will enter into reasonable agreements with such Project Investor, which agreements will grant certain rights to the Project Investors as more fully developed and described in such documents, including (a) this Agreement shall not be terminated (except for termination pursuant to the terms of this Agreement) without the consent of Project Investor, which consent is not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed, (b) Project Investors shall be given notice of, and the opportunity to cure as provided in Section 14.2(d)(ii), any breach or default of this Agreement by Seller, (c) that if the Project Investor forecloses, take a deed in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise exercise its remedies pursuant to any security documents, then (i) Buyer shall, at Project Investor's request, continue to perform all of its obligations hereunder, and Project Investor or its nominee may perform in the place of Seller, and may assign this Agreement to another Person in place of Seller, provided that such other Person is a Qualified Transferee, (ii) Project Investor shall have no liability under this Agreement except during the period of such Project Investor's ownership or operation of the Project and (iii) that Buyer shall accept performance in accordance with this Agreement by Project Investor or its nominee, and (d) that Buyer shall make the same representations and warranties to Project Investor as Buyer made to Seller pursuant to this Agreement. The Parties agree that an agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit J shall be reasonable.

#### 14.3 Buyer Limited Assignment Right.

Buyer may from time to time, but on no less than fifteen (15) Business Days' prior notice, assign to a third party the right to receive at the Delivery Point all or a portion of the Energy that would otherwise be delivered to Buyer hereunder. As a condition to such assignment, Seller and Buyer (and Seller's financing parties) shall first agree on the terms and conditions of a written assignment and consent agreement based on the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit M</u>, such agreement not to be unreasonably delayed or withheld unless Seller (in consultation with its financing parties) reasonably determines such assignment would adversely affect Seller's economics, security, or rights under the Agreement or it would adversely affect Seller's ability to obtain or retain financing or Tax Attributes. For the avoidance of doubt, Buyer will remain responsible for all its obligations under this Agreement related to such assigned Energy, including (a) the obligation to pay for such Energy within three (3) Business Days after FMPA's receipt of Notice of nonpayment from Origis, to the extent the assignee thereof does not make such payment when due and (b) any damages associated with such assignee's failure to take any such Energy.

#### ARTICLE 15 FORCE MAJEURE

#### 15.1 Force Majeure Events.

To the extent either Party is prevented by a Force Majeure Event from carrying out, in whole or part, its obligations under this Agreement and such Party gives Notice and details of the Force Majeure Event to the other Party as detailed below, then, the Party impacted by the Force Majeure Event shall be excused from the performance of its obligations to the extent impacted. As soon as practicable after commencement of a Force Majeure Event, the non-performing Party shall provide the other Party with oral notice of the Force Majeure Event, and within two (2) weeks of the commencement of a Force Majeure Event (or such longer period as reasonably required given the

nature of the Force Majeure Event), the non-performing Party shall provide the other Party with Notice in the form of a letter describing in detail the particulars of the occurrence giving rise to the Force Majeure Event claim and the anticipated impact on the non-performing Party's ability to perform its obligations and the non-performing Party's anticipated plan to resume full performance of the obligations impacted by the Force Majeure Event. Seller shall not substitute Product from any other source for Buyer's Share of the output of the Project during an outage resulting from a Force Majeure Event. The suspension of performance due to a claim of a Force Majeure Event must be of no greater scope and of no longer duration than is required by the Force Majeure Event. Buyer shall not be required to make any payments for any Product that Seller fails to schedule, deliver or provide as a result of a Force Majeure Event during the term of such Force Majeure Event.

#### 15.2 Extended Force Majeure Events.

This Agreement may be terminated by either Party with no further obligation to the other Party if a Force Majeure Event prevents the performance of a material portion of the obligations hereunder and such Force Majeure Event is not resolved and full performance is resumed within twelve (12) months after the commencement of such Force Majeure Event, subject to Seller's right to extend in this Section 15.2. If Seller is the non-performing Party due to damage to the Project caused by a Force Majeure Event, Seller shall have up to one hundred and eighty (180) Days following the start of such Force Majeure Event to obtain a report from an independent, third party engineer stating whether the Project is capable of being repaired or replaced within fifteen (15) additional months from the date of the report. Seller shall promptly provide Buyer a copy of the engineer's report at no cost to Buyer. If such engineer's report concludes that the Project is capable of being repaired or replaced within such fifteen (15) month period and Seller undertakes and continues such repair or replacement with due diligence, then Buyer shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section until the expiration of the period deemed necessary by the engineer's report (not to exceed fifteen (15) months), after which time, either Party may terminate by Notice to the other Party unless the Project has been repaired or replaced, as applicable, and the Seller has resumed and is satisfying its performance obligations under this Agreement. If the Parties resume performance following a Force Majeure Event that lasted more than twelve (12) consecutive months, then the Term will automatically extend for the duration of such Force Majeure Event.

#### ARTICLE 16 LIMITATIONS ON LIABILITY

#### 16.1 Disclaimer of Warranties.

EXCEPT AS SET FORTH HEREIN, THERE IS NO WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND ANY AND ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES ARE DISCLAIMED.

#### 16.2 *Limitations on Liability.*

THE PARTIES CONFIRM THAT THE EXPRESS REMEDIES AND MEASURES OF DAMAGES PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT SATISFY THE ESSENTIAL PURPOSES

HEREOF. FOR BREACH OF ANY PROVISION FOR WHICH AN EXPRESS REMEDY OR MEASURE OF DAMAGES IS PROVIDED, SUCH EXPRESS REMEDY OR MEASURE OF DAMAGES SHALL BE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY, THE OBLIGOR'S LIABILITY SHALL BE LIMITED AS SET FORTH IN SUCH PROVISION AND ALL OTHER REMEDIES OR DAMAGES AT LAW OR IN EQUITY ARE WAIVED, UNLESS THE PROVISION IN QUESTION PROVIDES THAT THE EXPRESS REMEDIES ARE IN ADDITION TO OTHER REMEDIES THAT MAY BE AVAILABLE. EXCEPT FOR A PARTY'S INDEMNITY OBLIGATION IN RESPECT OF THIRD PARTY CLAIMS OR AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY HEREIN PROVIDED, NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE FOR CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY OR INDIRECT DAMAGES, LOST PROFITS OR OTHER BUSINESS INTERRUPTION DAMAGES, BY STATUTE, IN TORT OR CONTRACT, UNDER ANY INDEMNITY PROVISION OR OTHERWISE. UNLESS EXPRESSLY HEREIN PROVIDED. AND SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE 11, IT IS THE INTENT OF THE PARTIES THAT THE LIMITATIONS HEREIN IMPOSED ON REMEDIES AND THE MEASURE OF DAMAGES BE WITHOUT REGARD TO THE CAUSE OR CAUSES RELATED THERETO, INCLUDING THE NEGLIGENCE OF ANY PARTY, WHETHER SUCH NEGLIGENCE BE SOLE, JOINT OR CONCURRENT, OR ACTIVE OR PASSIVE. TO THE EXTENT ANY DAMAGES REQUIRED TO BE PAID HEREUNDER ARE LIQUIDATED, THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE DAMAGES ARE DIFFICULT OR IMPOSSIBLE TO DETERMINE. OR OTHERWISE OBTAINING AN ADEQUATE REMEDY IS INCONVENIENT AND THE DAMAGES CALCULATED HEREUNDER CONSTITUTE A REASONABLE APPROXIMATION OF THE HARM OR LOSS.

#### 16.3 Buyer Liability.

(a) This Agreement is a liability and financial obligation of the FMPA Solar III Project only. No liability or obligation under this Agreement shall inure to or bind any of the funds, accounts, monies, property, instruments, or rights of the Florida Municipal Power Agency generally, any individual FMPA member, or any of any other project designated by FMPA in accordance with Article II of the Interlocal Agreement.

(b) Each FMPA Solar III Project Participant has commitments under the FMPA Solar III Project Power Sales Contracts with regard to the payment obligations to the FMPA Solar III Project for all costs related to this Agreement in the event of a default by one or more other FMPA Solar III Project Participants, as more fully described in the Power Sales Contracts.

#### ARTICLE 17 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

#### **17.1** Intent of the Parties

Except as provided in the next sentence, the sole procedure to resolve any claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any related agreement (a "**Dispute**") is the dispute resolution procedure set forth in this Article 12. Either Party may seek a preliminary injunction or other

provisional judicial remedy if such action is necessary to prevent irreparable harm or preserve the status quo, in which case both Parties nonetheless will continue to pursue resolution of the Dispute by means of the dispute resolution procedure set forth in this ARTICLE 17.

#### 17.2 Management Negotiations

(a) The Parties will attempt in good faith to resolve any Dispute by prompt negotiations between each Party's authorized representative designated in writing as a representative of the Party (each a "Manager"). Either Manager may, by Notice to the other Party, request a meeting to initiate negotiations to be held within ten (10) Business Days of the other Party's receipt of such request, at a mutually agreed time and place (either in person or telephonically). If the matter is not resolved within fifteen (15) Business Days of their first meeting ("Initial Negotiation End Date"), the Managers shall refer the matter to the designated senior officers of their respective companies that have authority to settle the dispute ("Executives"). Within five (5) Business Days of the Initial Negotiation End Date ("Referral Date"), each Party shall provide one another Notice confirming the referral and identifying the name and title of the Executive who will represent the Party.

(b) Within five (5) Business Days of the Referral Date, the Executives shall establish a mutually acceptable location and date, which date shall not be greater than thirty (30) Days from the Referral Date, to meet. After the initial meeting date, the Executives shall meet, as often as they reasonably deem necessary, to exchange relevant information and to attempt to resolve the dispute.

(c) All communication and writing exchanged between the Parties in connection with these negotiations shall be confidential and shall not be used or referred to in any subsequent binding adjudicatory process or judicial proceeding between the Parties. The Parties shall bear their respective costs, expenses and fees relating to the activities under this Section 17.2.

(d) If the matter is not resolved within forty-five (45) days of the Referral Date, or if the Party receiving the Notice to meet, pursuant to Section 17.2(a) above, refuses or does not meet within the ten (10) Business Day period specified in Section 17.2(a) above, and subject to Sections 16.2, 19.7 and 19.8 of this Agreement, either Party may pursue all remedies available to it at law or in equity. Venue for any action or proceeding shall be state and federal courts in Leon County, Florida.

## 17.3 Specific Performance and Injunctive Relief.

Each Party shall be entitled to seek a decree compelling specific performance with respect to, and shall be entitled, without the necessity of filing any bond, to seek the restraint by injunction of, any actual or threatened breach of any material obligation of the other Party under Article 13. The Parties in any action for specific performance or restraint by injunction agree that they shall each request that all expenses incurred in such proceeding, including, but not limited to, reasonable counsel fees, be apportioned in the final decision based upon the respective merits of the positions of the Parties.

#### ARTICLE 18 NOTICES

#### 18.1 Notices.

Whenever this Agreement requires or permits delivery of a "Notice" (or requires a Party to "notify"), the Party with such right or obligation shall provide a written communication in the manner specified in herein and to the addresses set forth below; provided, however, that Notices of Outages or other Scheduling or dispatch information or requests, shall be provided in accordance with the terms set forth in the relevant section of this Agreement or the Operating Procedures, as applicable. Invoices may be sent by facsimile or e-mail in addition to overnight mail or courier. A Notice sent by facsimile transmission or e-mail will be recognized and shall be deemed received on the Business Day on which such Notice was transmitted if received before 5:00 p.m. (and if received after 5:00 p.m., on the next Business Day) and a Notice of overnight mail or courier shall be deemed to have been received two (2) Business Days after it was sent or such earlier time as is confirmed by the receiving Party. Each Party shall provide Notice to the other Party of the persons authorized to nominate and/or agree to a Schedule or Dispatch Order for the delivery or acceptance of the Product or make other Notices on behalf of such Party and specify the scope of their individual authority and responsibilities, and may change its designation of such persons from time to time in its sole discretion by providing Notice.

If to Seller:

### [<mark>Seller</mark>]

Attn: Management Team 800 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1000 Miami, FL 33131 Email: OrigisManagement@origisenergy.com

With a copy to:

#### [Seller]

Attn: General Counsel 800 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1000 Miami, FL 33131 Email:

If to Buyer: Florida Municipal Power Agency

Chief Operating Officer 8553 Commodity Circle Orlando, FL 32819 Telephone: 407-355-7767 Email: ken.rutter@fmpa.com

#### ARTICLE 19 MISCELLANEOUS

#### 19.1 Effectiveness of Agreement; Survival.

This Agreement shall be in full force and effect, enforceable and binding in all respects as of the Effective Date until the conclusion of the Term or earlier termination pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; provided however, that the relevant provisions of this Agreement shall remain in effect until (i) the Parties have fulfilled all obligations under this Agreement, including payment in full of amounts due for the Product delivered prior to the end of the Term, the Settlement Amount, indemnification payments or other damages (whether directly or indirectly such as through set-off or netting) and (ii) the undrawn portion of Performance Assurance is released and/or returned as applicable (if any is due). Notwithstanding any provisions herein to the contrary, the obligations set forth in Sections 6.1(b) and 13.1 and ARTICLE 16, the indemnity obligations set forth in ARTICLE 11, and the limitations on liabilities set forth herein shall survive (in full force) the expiration or termination of this Agreement.

#### **19.2** Audits.

Each Party has the right, at its sole expense and during normal working hours, to examine the records of the other Party to the extent reasonably necessary to verify the accuracy of any statement, charge or computation made pursuant to this Agreement. If any such examination reveals any inaccuracy in any statement, the necessary adjustments in such statement and the payments thereof will be made promptly and shall bear interest calculated at the Interest Rate from the date the overpayment or underpayment was made until paid; provided, however, that no adjustment for any statement or payment will be made unless objection to the accuracy thereof was made prior to the lapse of twelve (12) months from the rendition thereof, and thereafter any objection shall be deemed waived except to the extent any misinformation was from a third party not affiliated with any Party and such third party corrects its information after such twelve (12)-month period.

#### 19.3 Amendments.

This Agreement shall not be modified nor amended unless such modification or amendment shall be in writing and signed by authorized representatives of both Parties.

#### 19.4 Waivers.

Failure to enforce any right or obligation by any Party with respect to any matter arising in connection with this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver as to that matter nor to any other matter. Any waiver by any Party of its rights with respect to a breach or default under this Agreement or with respect to any other matters arising in connection with this Agreement must be in writing. Such waiver shall not be deemed a waiver with respect to any subsequent breach or default or other matter.

#### 19.5 Severability.

If any of the terms of this Agreement are finally held or determined to be invalid, illegal or void, all other terms of the Agreement shall remain in effect; *provided* that the Parties shall enter into negotiations concerning the terms affected by such decision for the purpose of achieving conformity with requirements of any Applicable Law and the original intent and original economic benefit of the Parties.

## 19.6 Standard of Review.

(a) Absent the agreement of the Parties to the proposed change, the standard of review for changes to this Agreement proposed by a Party, a Person or the FERC acting sua sponte shall be the "public interest" application of the "just and reasonable" standard of review set forth in United Gas Pipe Line Co. v. Mobile Gas Service Corp., 350 U.S. 332 (1956) and Federal Power Commission v. Sierra Pacific Power Co., 350 U.S. 348 (1956), as clarified by Morgan Stanley Capital Group, Inc. v. Public Util. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish, 554 U.S. 527 (2008) (the "Mobile-Sierra" doctrine).

(b) Notwithstanding any provision of Agreement, and absent the prior written agreement of the Parties, each Party, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Laws, for itself and its respective successors and assigns, hereby also expressly and irrevocably waives any rights it can or may have, now or in the future, whether under Sections 205, 206, or 306 of the Federal Power Act or otherwise, to seek to obtain from FERC by any means, directly or indirectly (through complaint, investigation, supporting a third party seeking to obtain or otherwise), and each hereby covenants and agrees not at any time to seek to so obtain, an order from FERC changing any Section of this Agreement specifying any rate or other material economic terms and conditions agreed to by the Parties.

## **19.7** *Governing Law.*

THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND DUTIES OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED, ENFORCED AND PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, WITHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW. THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE VENUE FOR ANY DISPUTE, CLAIM OR CONTROVERSY RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE THE STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS IN LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA.

## **19.8** *Waiver of Trial by Jury.*

EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY DISPUTE ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND ANY AGREEMENT CONTEMPLATED TO BE EXECUTED IN CONJUNCTION HEREWITH, OR ANY COURSE OF CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENTS (WHETHER VERBAL OR WRITTEN) OR ACTIONS OF ANY PARTY HERETO. THIS PROVISION IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR THE PARTIES ENTERING INTO THIS AGREEMENT.

### 19.9 Attorneys' Fees.

In any proceeding brought to enforce this Agreement or because of the breach by any Party of any covenant or condition herein contained, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees (including reasonably allocated fees of in-house counsel) in addition to court costs and any and all other costs recoverable in said action.

## 19.10 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.

Except as set forth in Article 14, this Agreement is intended solely for the benefit of the Parties hereto and nothing contained herein shall be construed to create any duty to, or standard of care with reference to, or any liability to, or any benefit for, any Person not a Party to this Agreement.

## 19.11 No Agency.

This Agreement is not intended, and shall not be construed, to create any association, joint venture, agency relationship or partnership between the Parties or to impose any such obligation or liability upon either Party. Neither Party shall have any right, power or authority to enter into any agreement or undertaking for, or act as or be an agent or representative of, or otherwise bind, the other Party.

#### 19.12 Cooperation.

The Parties acknowledge that they are entering into a long-term arrangement in which the cooperation of both of them will be required. If, during the Term, changes in the operations, facilities or methods of either Party will materially benefit a Party without detriment to the other Party, the Parties commit to each other to make Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cooperate and assist each other in making such change, including engaging in good-faith negotiations to revise or supplement this Agreement as appropriate.

## **19.13** Further Assurances.

Upon the receipt of a written request from the other Party, each Party shall execute such additional documents, instruments and assurances and take such additional actions as are reasonably necessary and desirable to carry out the terms and intent hereof. Neither Party shall unreasonably withhold, condition or delay its compliance with any reasonable request made pursuant to this Section. No Party shall be required to take any action or execute any document under this Section 19.13 that would negatively change that Party's risk or benefit under this Agreement.

## 19.14 Captions; Construction.

All indexes, titles, subject headings, section titles, and similar items are provided for the purpose of reference and convenience and are not intended to affect the meaning of the content or scope of this Agreement. This Agreement was prepared jointly by the Parties, each Party having had access to advice of its own counsel, and not by either Party to the exclusion of the other Party, and shall not be construed against one Party or the other as a result of the manner in which this Agreement was prepared, negotiated or executed.

### 19.15 Entire Agreement.

This Agreement shall supersede all other prior and contemporaneous understandings or agreements, both written and oral, between the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement.

#### **19.16** Forward Contract.

The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement constitutes a "forward contract" within the meaning of the United States Bankruptcy Code.

#### **19.17** Service Contract.

Each Party intends this Agreement to be a "service contract" within the meaning of Section 7701(e) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

#### 19.18 Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

### [REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK – SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGE]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties have executed this Agreement in the manner appropriate to each as of the Effective Date set forth above.

[]	Florida Municipal Power Agency	
By:	By:	
Name:	Name:	
Title:	Title:	

## EXHIBIT A

## **CONTRACT PRICE & PURCHASE OPTION PRICE**

## I. CONTRACT PRICE

PERIOD	CONTRACT PRICE (\$/MWh)
From and including the Initial Energy Delivery Date through the remainder of the Initial Term	

## **II. PURCHASE OPTION PRICE TABLE**

Contract Year	Purchase Option Price
10	
15	
20	

### EXHIBIT B

## **DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT**

Seller intends to build, own and operate a single axis tracking photovoltaic solar energy generation facility on a site located in \_\_\_\_\_\_ County, Florida, which may be referred to at times in this Agreement as the "\_\_\_\_\_\_" solar facility. As presently planned, the Expected Project Capacity will be 74.9 MW, and will consist of:

- 74.9 MWac solar PV plant with single-axis tracker, (1) \_\_\_\_\_MVA \_\_\_\_kV, three-winding transformer (\_\_\_\_\_)
- (\_\_\_\_) \_\_\_\_ inverters, each with an integrated pad mount transformer kVA, \_\_\_\_\_-kV Dy
- \_\_\_\_\_ MVAR capacitor bank at the \_\_\_\_\_kV bus of the substation to which the Project interconnects

Point(s) of Interconnection: The Project will interconnect with the transmission facilities of at a point to be determined in the interconnection study process.

**Real Property Description which shall be subject to adjustment to reflect the final survey and any modifications made in accordance with Prudent Operating Practices:** Located in the County of \_\_\_\_\_\_, Florida (to be updated by Seller in accordance with the Interconnection Agreement).

Nothing in this Agreement or Exhibit B is intended to either (i) limit the right of Seller to make any changes to the Project it determines to undertake, or (ii) grant any rights to Buyer regarding the description, nature or components of the Project.

## EXHIBIT C

## **DESCRIPTION OF DELIVERY POINT**

Following is a preliminary description of the Delivery Point. Seller shall update as necessary.

#### EXHIBIT D

#### **PRODUCTION GUARANTEE**

I. <u>Definitions</u>. The following defined terms shall apply to this Exhibit D. Capitalized terms used in this Exhibit D and not defined herein will have the meaning assigned in Section 1.1 of the Agreement.

"<u>Actual Energy Output</u>" means, for any Contract Year, the amount of Energy the Seller delivered or made available to Buyer at the Delivery Point during such Contract Year, measured in MWh.

"<u>Annual Energy Output Guarantee</u>" means, for any Contract Year, (i) Buyer's Share of the amount set forth in the following <u>Table A</u> for such Contract Year, less (ii) any Excused Energy.

Table A				
Contract Year	Annual Energy Output (MWh)			
1				
2				
3				
4				
5				
6				
7				
8				
9				
10				
11				
12				
13				
14				
15				
16				
17				
18				
19				
20				
Renewal Te	rms (if applicable)			
21				
22				
23				
24				

25	
26	
27	
28	
29	
30	

"<u>Damages Rate</u>" means an amount equal to the lesser of (1) the Contract Price or (2) the positive difference between Buyer's annual average avoided energy rate minus the Contract Price per MWh of Production Shortfall.

"Excused Energy" means (a) any Energy, measured in MWh, that Seller is unable to schedule or deliver to the Delivery Point as a result of Buyer Curtailment Orders, Buyer's failure to obtain transmission service or Buyer's failure to perform, including for reasons outside its control, as contemplated in Section 3.8(c) (other than due to a breach by Seller of its obligations under the Agreement); plus (b) Buyer's Share of any Energy, measured in MWh, that Seller is unable to schedule or deliver to the Delivery Point as a result of a (i) Curtailment Period, (ii) System Emergency (other than a System Emergency caused by Seller's breach of the Interconnection Agreement), (iii) Force Majeure Event, or (iv) Planned Outages (but only to the extent the aggregate MWh for all Planned Outages does not exceed 2% of the Annual Energy Output Guarantee in the applicable Contract Year).

"<u>Production Shortfall</u>" means, for any Contract Year, the positive difference (if any) between the Annual Energy Output Guarantee and the Actual Energy Production for that Contract Year.

## II. <u>Guarantee and Damages</u>.

a. <u>Production Guarantee Damages</u>. If there is a Production Shortfall in any two rolling consecutive Contract Years, then Seller shall owe Buyer liquidated damages in an amount equal to (i) the Production Shortfall that occurred in the later of the two relevant Contract Years, multiplied by (ii) the Damages Rate (the "**Production Guarantee Damages**").

b. <u>Annual Report</u>. No later than 45 days after each Contract Year, Seller shall deliver to Buyer: (i) a calculation showing Seller's computation of the Actual Energy Output for the previous two Contract Years and the Production Guarantee Damages, if any, owed to Buyer, and (ii) payment in full of any Production Guarantee Damages owed to Buyer. Production Guarantee Damages shall be Buyer's sole remedy for the failure of Seller to satisfy the production guarantee set forth in this Exhibit D.

### EXHIBIT E FORM OF GUARANTY

THIS SOLAR POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENT GUARANTY, dated as of (this "<u>Guarantee</u>"), is issued by [name of guarantor], a \_\_\_\_\_\_ ("<u>Guaranteer</u>") in favor of [\_\_\_\_\_] ("<u>Guaranteed Party</u>"). [BENEFICIARY], a Delaware limited liability company ("<u>Obligor</u>") is a wholly owned subsidiary of Guarantor.

#### A. RECITALS

Obligor and Guaranteed Party have entered into a Solar Power Purchase Agreement, dated as of \_\_\_\_\_\_ (the "<u>Agreement</u>").

This Guarantee is delivered to Guaranteed Party by Guarantor pursuant to the Agreement. All terms defined in the Agreement and not otherwise defined in this Guarantee have the meanings given to them in the Agreement.

#### AGREEMENT

Guarantee.

<u>Guarantee of Obligations Under the Agreement</u>. For value received, Guarantor absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably, as primary Obligor and not as surety, subject to the express terms hereof, guarantees the payment and performance when due of all obligations, whether now in existence or hereafter arising, by Obligor to Guaranteed Party pursuant to the Agreement (the "<u>Obligations</u>"). This Guarantee is one of payment and not of collection and shall apply regardless of whether recovery of all such Obligations may be or become discharged or uncollectible in any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding, or otherwise unenforceable.

<u>Maximum Guaranteed Amount</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Guarantor's aggregate obligation to Guaranteed Party hereunder is limited to [insert applicable Required Security Amount] (the "<u>Maximum Guaranteed Amount</u>") (it being understood for purposes of calculating the Maximum Guaranteed Amount of Guarantor hereunder that any payment by Guarantor either directly or indirectly to the Guaranteed Party, pursuant to a demand made upon Guarantor by Guaranteed Party or otherwise made by Guarantor pursuant to its obligations under this Guarantee, including any indemnification obligations, shall reduce Guarantor's maximum aggregate liability hereunder on a dollar-for-dollar basis), excluding costs and expenses incurred by Guaranteed Party in enforcing this Guarantee, and shall not either individually or in the aggregate be greater or different in character or extent than the obligations of Obligor to Guaranteed Party under the terms of the Agreement.

<u>Payment; Currency</u>. All sums payable by Guarantor hereunder shall be made in freely transferable and immediately available funds and shall be made in the currency in which the Obligations were due.

<u>Waiver of Certain Defenses</u>. Guarantor waives: (a) notice of acceptance of this Guarantee and of the Obligations and any action taken with regard thereto; (b) presentment, demand for payment,

protest, notice of dishonor or non-payment, suit, or the taking of any other action by Guaranteed Party against Obligor, Guarantor or others; (c) any right to require Guaranteed Party to proceed against Obligor or any other person, or to require Guaranteed Party first to exhaust any remedies against Obligor or any other person, before proceeding against Guarantor hereunder; and (d) any defense based upon (i) an election of remedies by Guaranteed Party; (ii) a change in the financial condition, corporate existence, structure or ownership of the Guarantor or Obligor; (iii) the institution by or against Obligor or any other person or entity of any bankruptcy, winding-up, liquidation, dissolution, insolvency, reorganization or other similar proceeding affecting Obligor or its assets or any resulting release, stay or discharge of any Obligations; (iv) any lack or limitation of power, incapacity or disability on the part of Obligor or of its directors, partners or agents or any other irregularity, defect or informality on the part of Obligor in the authorization of the Obligations; (v) any lack of validity or enforceability of the Obligations; (vi) any amendment, release, discharge, substitution or waiver of the Agreement or any of the Obligations and (v) any duty of Guaranteed Party to disclose to Guarantor any facts concerning Obligor, the Agreement or the Project, or any other circumstances that might increase the risk to Guarantor under this Guarantee, whether now known or hereafter learned by Guaranteed Party, it being understood that Guarantor is capable of and assumes the responsibility for being and remaining informed as to all such facts and circumstances.

Without limitation to the foregoing, Guaranteed Party shall have the right to at any time and from time to time without notice to or consent of Guarantor and without impairing or releasing the obligations of Guarantor hereunder: (a) renew, compromise, extend, accelerate or otherwise change, substitute or supersede the Obligations; (b) take or fail to take any action of any kind in respect of any security for the Obligations, or impair, exhaust, exchange, enforce, waive or release any such security; (c) exercise or refrain from exercising any rights against Obligor or others in respect of the Obligations; or (d) compromise or subordinate the Obligations, including any security therefor, or grant any forbearances or waivers, on one or more occasions, for any length of time, or accept settlements with respect to Obligor's performance of any of the Obligations.

Except as expressly set forth in this paragraph, Guarantor shall be entitled to assert any and all rights, setoffs, counterclaims and other defenses that Obligor may have to payment or performance of any of the Obligations and also shall be entitled to assert any and all rights, setoffs, counterclaims and other defenses that the Guarantor may have against the Guaranteed Party, other than (a) defenses arising from the insolvency, reorganization or bankruptcy of Obligor, (b) defenses expressly waived in this Agreement by Guarantor, (c) defenses arising by reason of (i) Guarantor's direct or indirect ownership interests in Obligor or (ii) legal requirements applicable to Obligor that prevent the payment by Obligor of its payment obligations that constitute Obligations, and (d) defenses previously asserted by Obligor against such claims to the extent such defenses have been resolved in favor of Guaranteed Party by a court of last resort.

<u>Term</u>. This Guarantee shall continue in full force and effect until the earlier to occur of (a) the substitution of an alternative form of Security by Obligor, (b) the satisfaction of all Obligations of Obligor under the Agreement, or (c) the payment by Guarantor, without reservation of rights, of an aggregate amount equal to the Maximum Guaranteed Amount, together with any other amounts required to be paid by Guarantor pursuant to this agreement. Guarantor further agrees that this Guarantee shall continue to be effective or be reinstated, as the case may be, if at any time payment,

or any part thereof, of any Obligation is rescinded or must otherwise be restored or returned due to bankruptcy or insolvency laws or otherwise.

<u>Subrogation</u>. Until all Obligations are indefeasibly paid in full, unless otherwise provided herein, Guarantor waives all rights of subrogation, reimbursement, contribution and indemnity from Obligor with respect to this Guarantee and any collateral held therefor, and Guarantor subordinates all rights under any debts owing from Obligor to Guarantor, whether now existing or hereafter arising, to the prior payment of the Obligations. Any amount paid to Guarantor on account of any purported subrogation rights prior to the termination of this Guaranty shall be held in trust for the benefit of Guaranteed Party and shall immediately thereafter be paid to Guaranteed Party.

<u>Expenses</u>. Whether or not legal action is instituted, Guarantor agrees to reimburse Guaranteed Party on written demand for all reasonable attorneys' fees and all other reasonable costs and expenses incurred by Guaranteed Party in enforcing its rights under this Guarantee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Guarantor shall have no obligation to pay any such costs or expenses if, in any action or proceeding brought by Guaranteed Party giving rise to a demand for payment of such costs or expenses, it is finally adjudicated that the Guarantor is not liable to make payment.

<u>Assignment</u>. Guarantor shall not be permitted to assign its rights or delegate its obligations under this Guarantee in whole or part without written consent of Guaranteed Party. Guaranteed Party shall not be permitted to assign its rights hereunder except in connection with a permitted assignment of its rights and obligations under the Agreement.

<u>Non-Waiver</u>. The failure of Guaranteed Party to enforce any provisions of this Guarantee at any time or for any period of time shall not be construed to be a waiver of any such provision or the right thereafter to enforce same. All remedies of Guaranteed Party under this Guarantee shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy now or hereafter existing at law or in equity. The terms and provisions hereof may not be waived, altered, modified or amended except in a writing executed by Guarantor and Guaranteed Party.

<u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Guarantee and the Agreement are the entire and only agreements between Guarantor and Guaranteed Party with respect to the guarantee of the Obligations of Obligor by Guarantor. All prior or contemporaneous agreements or undertakings made, which are not set forth in this Guarantee, are superseded.

<u>Notice</u>. Any demand for payment, notice, request, instruction, correspondence or other document to be given hereunder by Guarantor or by Guaranteed Party shall be in writing and shall be deemed received (a) if given personally, when received; (b) if mailed by certified mail (postage prepaid and return receipt requested), five (5) days after deposit in the U.S. mails; (c) if given by facsimile, when transmitted with confirmed transmission; or (d) if given via overnight express courier service, when received or personally delivered, in each case with charges prepaid and addressed as follows (or such other address as either Guarantor or Guaranteed Party shall specify in a notice delivered to the other in accordance with this Section):

If to Guarantor:

Attn:

If to Guaranteed Party:

Attn:

<u>Counterparts</u>. This Guarantee may be executed in counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall constitute one and the same instrument.

<u>Governing Law; Jurisdiction</u>. This Guarantee shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida without giving effect to principles of conflicts of law. Guarantor and Guaranteed Party submit to the jurisdiction and venue of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia or of any federal district court located in the District of Columbia over any disputes relating to this Guarantee.

<u>Further Assurances</u>. Guarantor shall cause to be promptly and duly taken, executed, acknowledged and delivered such further documents and instruments as Guaranteed Party may from time to time reasonably request in order to carry out the intent and purposes of this Guarantee.

<u>Limitation on Liability</u>. Except as specifically provided in this Guarantee, Guaranteed Party shall have no claim, remedy or right to proceed against Guarantor or against any past, present or future stockholder, partner, member, director or officer thereof for the payment of any of the Obligations, as the case may be, or any claim arising out of any agreement, certificate, representation, covenant or warranty made by Obligor in the Agreement.

<u>Effectiveness</u>. This Guarantee shall be effective as of the date set forth in the first paragraph hereof upon its execution by both Guarantor and Guaranteed Party.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Guarantor and Guaranteed Party have executed and delivered this Guarantee.

# [Guarantor]

By:\_\_\_\_\_

Name: Title:

Acknowledged and agreed

[Guaranteed Party]

By:		
Name:		
Title:		

## EXHIBIT F FORM OF IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT

Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No.

Date of Issuance:

Beneficiary:

[Buyer Name]

Applicant/Account Party:

Amount: USD Amount ([Amount] and 00/100)

Initial expiration date at our counter (unless evergreen):

Final expiration date at our counter:

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We, [Bank Name]

("Issuer"), do hereby issue this Irrevocable Transferable Standby Letter of Credit No. {\_\_\_\_} by order of, for the account of, and on behalf of [\_\_\_\_\_] ("Account Party") and in favor of [Buyer Name]. The term "Beneficiary" includes any successor by operation of law of the named beneficiary including without limitation any liquidator, receiver or conservator.

This Letter of Credit is issued, presentable and payable at the office of the Issuing Bank and we guarantee to YOU that drafts and documents drawn under and in compliance with the terms of this Letter of Credit will be honored on presentation pursuant to the terms of this Letter of Credit.

This Letter of Credit is available in one or more drafts drawn on [Bank Name] and may be drawn hereunder for the account of up to an aggregate amount not exceeding [\$Amount]. This Letter of Credit is drawn against by presentation to us at our office located at [Bank Address] of a drawing certificate (i) signed by an officer of the Beneficiary; (ii) dated the date of presentation; and (iii) the following statement:

"The undersigned hereby certifies to [Bank Name] ("Issuer"), with reference to its Irrevocable Transferable Standby Letter of Credit No.[\_\_\_], dated , issued on behalf of [\_\_\_\_] ("Account Party") and in favor of the [Buyer Name], ("Beneficiary") that:

[said Account Party has failed to perform in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Solar Power Purchase Agreement dated [ ] to which Account Party and Beneficiary are parties, as such agreement may be amended and supplemented from time to time, and any replacements or substitutions thereof, (collectively, the "Agreement").]

□ --or--

[(i) Beneficiary has received notice from the Issuing Bank pursuant to the terms of the Letter of Credit that Issuing Bank elects not to extend the Letter of Credit for an additional oneyear period, and (ii) the Letter of Credit will expire in fewer than thirty (30) days from the date hereof. As such, as of the date hereof Beneficiary is entitled to draw under the Letter of Credit.]

The Beneficiary hereby draws upon the Letter of Credit in an amount equal to \$[insert amount in figures] (United States Dollars [insert amount in words])."

If presentation of any drawing certificate is made on a Business Day and such presentation is made on or before 10:00 a.m. Eastern Time, Issuer shall satisfy such drawing request on the second Business Day. If the drawing certificate is received after 10:00 a.m. Eastern Time, Issuer will satisfy such drawing request on the third Business Day.

It is a condition of the letter of credit that it will be automatically extended without amendment for additional one-year periods until [ ] (the "Final Expiration Date"), unless at least one hundred twenty (120) days prior to any expiration date we send you written notice at the above address by registered mail or overnight courier service that we elect not to consider this Letter of Credit extended for any such period.

This Letter of Credit may be transferred in its entirety (but not in part) by Issuing Bank only upon presentation to us of a Request for Transfer signed by the Beneficiary in the form of Exhibit A accompanied by this Original Letter of Credit and any amendment(s), in which the Beneficiary irrevocably transfers to such transferee all of its rights hereunder, whereupon we agree to either issue a Transferred letter of credit to such transferee or endorse such transfer on the reverse of this Letter of Credit. Any transfer fees assessed by the issuer will be payable solely by the applicant.

Payments under the Letter of Credit shall be in accordance with the following terms and conditions:

All commissions and charges will be borne by the Account Party.

This Letter of Credit shall be governed by the International Standby Practices Publication No. 590 of the International Chamber of Commerce, (the "ISP"), except to the extent that terms hereof are inconsistent with the provisions of the ISP, in which case the terms of the Letter of Credit shall govern. This Letter of Credit shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Florida to the extent that the terms of the ISP are not applicable; provided that, in the event of any conflict between the ISP and such Florida laws, the ISP shall control.

This Letter of Credit may not be amended, changed or modified without the express written consent of the Beneficiary and the Issuer.

The Beneficiary shall not be deemed to have waived any rights under this Letter of Credit, unless the Beneficiary shall have signed a written waiver.

No such waiver, unless expressly so stated therein, shall be effective as to any transaction that occurs subsequent to the date of the waiver, nor as to any continuance of a breach after the waiver.

Partial drawings and multiple drawings are permitted.

A failure to make any drawing at any time shall not impair or reduce the availability of this Letter of Credit in any subsequent period or our obligation to honor your subsequent demands for payment made in accordance with the terms of this Letter of Credit.

Original Letter of Credit and all amendments need to be presented for a drawing. If it's a partial drawing, we will endorse the drawing amount on the back of the Original Letter of Credit and return the same to beneficiary.

## EXHIBIT A UNDER STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT NO.

## REQUEST FOR TRANSFER OF LETTER OF CREDIT IN ITS ENTIRETY

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

[Bank Name and Address] Re: Standby Letter of Credit No.

For value received, the undersigned beneficiary hereby irrevocably transfers to:

NAME OF TRANSFEREE

ADDRESS OF TRANSFEREE

CITY, STATE/COUNTRY ZIP\_\_\_\_\_

(hereinafter, the "transferee") all rights of the undersigned beneficiary to draw under above letter of credit, in its entirety.

By this transfer, all rights of the undersigned beneficiary in such Letter of Credit are transferred to the transferee and the transferee shall have the sole rights as beneficiary hereof, including sole rights relating to any amendments, whether increases or extensions or other amendments and whether now existing or hereafter made. All amendments are to be advised directly to the transferee without necessity of any consent of or notice to the undersigned beneficiary.

The original of such letter of credit and all amendment(s), if any, are returned herewith, and we ask you to issue a Transferred Letter of Credit or endorse the transfer on the reverse thereof, and forward it directly to the transferee with your customary notice of transfer.

In payment of your transfer commission in amount equal to  $\frac{1}{4}$ % of the amount transferred, minimum of \$250.00

The applicant has wired funds to you through \_\_\_\_\_\_ bank and in addition thereto, we agree to pay you on demand any expenses which may be incurred by you in connection with this transfer

Very truly yours, [BENEFICIARY NAME]

Authorized Signature

The signature(s) of \_\_\_\_\_\_ with title(s) as stated conforms to those on file with us; are authorized for the execution of such instrument; and the beneficiary has been approved under our bank's Customer Identification Program.

(Signature of Authenticating Bank)

(Name of Bank)

(Printed Name/Title)

(Date)

	(1) FOR B	FOR BANK USE ONLY	
Confirmation of Authenticatir	ng Bank's signature perform	ed by:	
Date: Addl Info.:	Time:	a.m./p.m.	

## EXHIBIT G INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

**General Liability Insurance**. Seller must obtain the following insurance coverage, which can be exceeded by Seller and may be met through any combination of primary insurance and following form excess or umbrella insurance so long as the combined limits meet requirements of this Agreement:

Commercial general liability insurance in an "occurrence" form with bodily injury and property damage combined liability limits of not less

per occurrence; provided, however: (i) Seller may use any combination of primary or excess policies to satisfy the overall limit requirements; and (ii) if Seller uses a "claims-made" policy, it must maintain continuous coverage in effect for at least two (2) years beyond termination of this Agreement, through continuous renewal of the original policy or by purchasing extended discovery period or retroactive insurance dated back to the Effective Date of this Agreement.

Specific coverage for broad form contractual liability and a separation of insured provision.

Additional Insurance. In addition to the requirements above, Seller must acquire and maintain throughout the Term, the following additional types of insurance:

Workers' Compensation. Workers' compensation insurance in accordance with statutory requirements including employer's liability insurance with limits not less than

per occurrence and endorsement providing insurance for obligations under the U.S. Longshoremen's and Harbor Worker's Compensation Act and the Jones Act, where applicable.

Auto Liability. Automobile liability insurance including owned, non-owned and hired automobiles with combined bodily injury and property damage limits of at least

All Risk Property. All Risk Property insurance covering the Facility against physical loss or damage, with a minimum limit sufficient to cover replacement of the Facility, including sublimits for physical loss or damage caused by flood, wind, or earthquake, which shall be insured up to

## EXHIBIT H FORM OF SURETY BOND

#### BOND NUMBER

#### POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENT BOND

### KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we

(hereinafter called "Principal"), and [	] authorized to do business in the State of		
(hereinafter called "Surety") a	are held and firmly bound unto		
	(hereinafter called "Obligee") as Obligee, for		
such monetary amount as incurred by the Obligee, not to ex	sceed the penal sum of		
	(\$) DOLLARS, good and lawful		
money of the United States of America, the payment of wh	ich, well and truly to be made, we do bind ourselves, our		
heirs, administrators, executors, successors, and assigns, jos	intly and severally, firmly by these presents.		

WHEREAS the above bounded Principal has entered into a certain written agreement with the above named Obligee, effective the \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_\_, for the

(hereinafter called "Agreement") which Agreement is hereby referred to and made a part hereof as fully and to the same extent as if copies at length were attached herein.

The obligation of this Bond shall be null and void unless: (1) the above Agreement is in writing, and has been fully executed by both the Principal and the Obligee; (2) the Principal is actually in Default under the above Agreement (hereinafter called "Default"), and is declared by the Obligee thereafter to be in Default; and (3) the Obligee has provided written notice of the Default to the Surety as promptly as possible, and in any event, within fifteen (15) days after such Default.

The Surety, at the sole election and discretion of the Surety, may take any of the following actions:

- 1. Determine the amount for which the Surety may be liable to the Obligee, and as soon as practicable thereafter, tender payment thereof to the Obligee; or
- 2. Pay the full amount of the above penal sum in complete discharge and exoneration of this Bond, and of all liabilities of the Surety relating hereto.

**PROVIDED HOWEVER**, that this Bond is executed by the Surety and accepted by the Obligee subject to the following expressed conditions:

- 1. This bond may be cancelled by providing sixty days (60) written notice of cancellation given by certified mail to the Obligee and to the Principal at the addresses stated below. Such cancellation shall in no way limit the liability of the Surety for subsequent defaults of the Principal's obligation incurred prior to such termination. In the event of cancellation, the Principal is responsible for providing alternate security to the Obligee thirty (30) days prior to the termination date, otherwise to be considered in Default under the Agreement and the Obligee shall be entitled to submit a Demand and receive payment under this Bond.
- A reorganization under Chapter 11 of the US Bankruptcy Code by the Principal shall not constitute an event of Default recoverable under this Bond if they continue to perform their obligations under the Agreement.
- 3. In the event the Principal fails to make any payments due to the Obligee which would constitute the basis of a Default, within Ten (10) business days of Surety's receipt of a Demand for payment under this Bond (hereinafter called "Demand"), Surety shall pay to the Obligee the amount of such Demand. The Surety shall cause to be paid all payments then past due, and in so doing cure any Default under the Agreement. The Obligee may present one or more Demands at any time in its sole discretion, provided however, Surety shall not be obligated to pay an aggregate amount in excess of the penal sum of the Bond less any amounts previously paid by the surety.

- 4. Surety's liability under this Bond issued in connection therewith shall not be cumulative and shall in no event exceed the amount as set forth in this bond or in any additions, riders, or endorsements properly issued by the Surety as supplements thereto.
- 5. No claim, action, suit or proceeding, except as herein set forth, shall be had or maintained against the Surety on this Bond unless same be brought or instituted and process served upon the Surety within six (6) months following the effective cancellation date of this Bond.
- 6. Any notice given or required under this Agreement will be made to the following representatives of the Parties:
  - a. To: {Principal}
  - b. To: {Obligee}
  - c. To: {Surety}

In the event of conflict or inconsistency between the provisions of this Bond and the provisions of the above Agreement, the provisions of this Bond shall control. The Obligee's acceptance of this Bond and reliance upon it as security constitutes its acknowledgement and agreement as to the explicit terms stated herein under which it is offered and issued by the Surety.

aled with our seals and dated this day of		20	
WITNESS:	PRINCIPAL:		
		(SEAL)	
(Name & Title)	(Signature)		
	(Name & Title)		
WITNESS:	SURETY:		
		(SEAL)	
(Name & Title)	(Signature)		
	(Name, as Attorney-in-Fact)		

## EXHIBIT I

## ENVIRONMENTAL ATTRIBUTES ATTESTATION AND BILL OF SALE

I.	Seller Information		
Name of	f Seller:		
Address	of Seller:		
Contact	Person:		Title:
Telepho	ne:	Fax:	Email Address:

### II. Declaration

I, **[NAME AND TITLE]** declare that the Environmental Attributes listed below were sold in accordance with that **[AGREEMENT]** dated as of **[DATE]** ("Agreement") exclusively from: \_\_\_\_\_("Seller") to [\_\_\_\_\_] ("Buyer").

# MWhs Environmental	Period of Generation
Attributes Transferred	(mm/yy)

I further declare that:

- 1) all the Environmental Attributes were generated by Seller;
- 2) to the best of my knowledge, the Environmental Attributes were not sold, marketed or otherwise claimed by a third party;
- 3) Seller transferred the Environmental Attributes only once, to Buyer;
- 4) the Environmental Attributes were not used to meet any federal, state or local renewable energy requirement, renewable energy procurement, renewable portfolio standard, or other renewable energy mandate by Seller, nor, to the best of my knowledge, by any other entity;
- 5) all of the Environmental Attributes transferred to Buyer (as listed above) were generated at the [\_\_\_\_] facility, a [\_\_\_]-powered generation facility located in [County, State]; and
- 6) Environmental Attributes transferred to Buyer include RECs which shall be registered and eligible under the Applicable REC Program specified in the Agreement.

As an authorized agent of Seller, I attest that the above statements are true and correct.

Signature

Date

Place of Execution

### EXHIBIT J

### FORM OF LENDER CONSENT

In the event Seller collaterally assigns its rights hereunder to the Lender as security, any related Lender Consent will contain provisions substantially as follows:

Buyer will not terminate the Agreement other than as provided therein, without the prior written consent of the Lender.

In connection with the exercise of its rights under the Financing Documents, the Lender shall have the right, but not the obligation, to do any act required to be performed by Seller under the Agreement, and Buyer shall accept any such performance by the Lender to the same extent as if such performance was rendered by Seller itself.

Lender shall not assume, sell or otherwise dispose of the Agreement (whether by foreclosure sale, conveyance in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise) unless, on or before the date of any such assumption, sale or disposition, Lender or any third party, as the case may be, assuming, purchasing or otherwise acquiring the Agreement (a) executes and delivers to Buyer a written assumption of all of Seller's rights and obligations under the Agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, which include the obligation to cure any and all defaults of Seller under the Agreement which are capable of being cured and which are not personal to Seller; (b) satisfies and complies with all requirements of the Agreement; (c) if applicable, delivers to Buyer a replacement for any Credit Support that is required to be delivered and maintained by Seller under the Agreement; and (d) is a Permitted Transferee (as defined below). Lender further acknowledges that the assignment of the Agreement to Lender is for security purposes only and that Lender has no rights under the Agreement to enforce the provisions of the Agreement unless and until an event of default has occurred and is continuing under the Financing Documents (a "Financing Default") or under this Agreement, in which case Lender shall be entitled to all of the rights and benefits and subject to all of the obligations which Seller then has or may have under the Agreement to the same extent and in the same manner as if Lender were an original party to the Agreement.

"Permitted Transferee" means any person or entity who (i) meets the Required Credit Rating set forth in the Agreement, (ii) has, or is the subsidiary of an entity that has, a record of owning and/or operating, for a period of at least three (3) years, solar photovoltaic generating facilities with an aggregate nameplate capacity of no less than 200 MW, and (iii) is not a Prohibited Person or Entity. Lender may from time to time, following the occurrence of a Financing Default, notify Buyer in writing of the identity of a proposed transferee of the Agreement, which proposed transferee may include Lender, in connection with the enforcement of Lender's rights, which notice shall include evidence reasonably acceptable to Buyer that the proposed transferee satisfies the criteria set forth above. Upon receipt of such notice, Buyer shall, within thirty (30) Days of its receipt of such written notice, confirm to Lender whether or not such proposed transferee is a "Permitted Transferee" (together with a written statement of the reason(s) for any negative determination) it being understood that if Buyer fails to so respond within such thirty (30) Day period such proposed transferee shall be deemed to be a "Permitted Transferee". If Buyer becomes entitled to terminate the Agreement due to an uncured Event of Default by Seller, Buyer shall not terminate the Agreement unless it has first given notice of such uncured Event of Default to the Lender and has given the Lender an Additional Cure Period to cure such Event of Default. For the purposes of this Agreement, "Additional Cure Period" means (i) with respect to a monetary default, ten (10) Business Days in addition to the cure period (if any) provided to Seller in the Agreement, and (ii) with respect to a non-monetary default, thirty (30) Days in addition to the cure period (if any) provided to Seller in the Agreement. However, if the Lender requires possession of the Project in order to cure the Event of Default and commences foreclosure proceedings against Seller within thirty (30) Days of receiving notice of an Event of Default from Buyer or Seller, whichever is received first, Lender shall be allowed a reasonable additional period to complete such foreclosure proceedings, such period not to exceed ninety (90) Days; provided, however, that Lender shall provide a written notice to Buyer that it intends to commence foreclosure proceedings with respect to Seller within ten (10) Business Days of receiving a notice of such Event of Default from Buyer or Seller, whichever is received first.

Neither the Lender nor any other participant in the Project Debt shall be obligated to perform or be liable for any obligation of Seller under the Agreement until and unless any of them assumes the Agreement.

Any party taking possession of the Project through the exercise of the Lender's rights and remedies shall remain subject to the terms of the Agreement and shall assume all of Seller's obligations under the Agreement, both prospective and accrued, including the obligation to cure any then-existing defaults capable of cure by performance or the payment of money damages. In the event that the Lender or its successor assumes the Agreement in accordance with this paragraph, Buyer shall continue the Agreement with the Lender or its successor, as the case may be, substituted wholly in the place of Seller.

Within sixty (60) Days of any termination of the Agreement in connection with any bankruptcy or insolvency Event of Default of Seller, upon the request of Lender, the Lender (or its successor) and Buyer shall enter into a new power purchase agreement on the same terms and conditions as the Agreement and for the period that would have been remaining under the Agreement but for such termination.

Buyer agrees to execute an estoppel certificate substantially in the form of Attachment A.

## [ATTACHMENT A TO EXHIBIT J]

[Buyer shall have the right to qualify and/or revise any representation, warranty and other statement that such representation, warranty or other statement is a true statement as of the date of this certificate.]

## [Date]

Reference is made to that certain Power Purchase Agreement dated as of [\_\_\_] (the "PPA"), by and between [\_\_\_], a [\_\_\_] organized and existing under the laws of [\_\_\_] ("Buyer"); and [\_\_\_], LLC, a [\_\_] ("Seller"). Terms used herein but not defined herein have the same meanings as in the PPA.

Buyer hereby confirms and agrees as of the date hereof as follows:

1. Buyer is a [\_\_\_] duly organized, validly existing and in good standing (if applicable) under the laws of the State of [\_\_\_]. The execution and delivery by Buyer of this Estoppel Certificate have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of Buyer and do not require any further internal approval or consent of Buyer and do not violate any provision of any law, regulation, order, judgment, injunction or similar matters or breach any agreement presently in effect with respect to or binding on Buyer.

The copy of the PPA, as amended, attached as Exhibit [\_\_\_], constitutes a true and complete copy of the PPA.

To Buyer's knowledge, as of the date hereof, the PPA is in full force and effect and the PPA has not been assigned or amended by Buyer. All representations and warranties of Buyer under the PPA were true and correct (as may be qualified by the terms of the Agreement) when made, and, to Buyer's knowledge, remain true and correct in all material respects as of the date hereof, except for those that, by their nature or terms, apply only as of the date originally made[, except: \_\_\_\_\_].

As of the date hereof, (A) no default or event of default with respect to Buyer nor, to the Buyer's knowledge, Seller, has occurred under the PPA, and (B) to Buyer's knowledge, there are no material defaults (including breach(es) of the PPA existing as of the date hereof that are not yet defaults under the PPA because applicable cure periods have not yet expired) or circumstances which with the passage of time and/or giving of notice would constitute a default.

To Buyer's knowledge, there is no event, act, circumstance or condition constituting an event of force majeure under the PPA.

To Buyer's knowledge, Buyer has no existing counterclaims, offsets or defenses against Seller under the PPA. Buyer has no present knowledge of any facts entitling Buyer to any material claim, counterclaim or offset against Seller in respect of the PPA. As of the date hereof, there is no pending or, to Buyer's knowledge, threatened action or proceeding involving or relating to Buyer before any court, tribunal, governmental authority or arbitrator which purports to materially affect the legality, validity or enforceability of the PPA. There exist no pending or to the Buyer's knowledge, threatened disputes or legal proceedings under the PPA or otherwise between Buyer and Seller.

All payments due, if any, under the PPA by Buyer have been paid in full through the period ending on the date hereof.

[Signature page follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Buyer has caused this Certificate to be duly executed by its officer thereunto duly authorized as of the date first set forth above.

By:

Title:

Name:

# EXHIBIT K

# PARTICIPANT LIST

(If Applicable)

Exhibit 1

## EXHIBIT L

## FORM OF PROGRESS REPORT

# Project: Recipient:

## **PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT**

Pursuant to Section 4.1(f) of the Agreement, after the Effective Date and before the Commercial Operation Date, Seller will provide Buyer with quarterly progress reports advising Buyer of the current status of the Project, the status of obtaining required Governmental Approvals, any significant developments or delays along with an action plan for making up delays, and Seller's best estimate of the Commercial Operation Date.

## I. Overview

Milestone	Expected Completion	Status	Notes
Interconnect Screening Study		Pending	
Start of Permitting		Pending	
Completion of Site Studies		Pending	
Interconnection Application		Pending	
System Impact Study		Pending	
Local Permitting Complete		Pending	
Facilities Study		Pending	
Interconnection Agreement		Pending	
Construction NTP		Pending	
Start of Major Equipment Delivery to Site		Pending	
85% Capacity Available		Pending	
Back Feed Available		Pending	
COD		Pending	

# **II.** Status Updates

- **Interconnection Agreement** •
  - Status update •
    - •
  - Discussion of any foreseeable disruptions or delays •
- Permits, Licenses, Easements and Approvals to Construct •
  - Status update •
    - •
  - Discussion of any foreseeable disruptions or delays •
- **Construction Notice To Proceed** ٠ •
  - Status update
    - •
  - Discussion of any foreseeable disruptions or delays • •
- **Major Equipment Delivered to Site** •
  - Status update •
    - •
  - Discussion of any foreseeable disruptions or delays •
- **Commercial Operation Date** •
  - **Status update** •
  - Discussion of any foreseeable disruptions or delays

•

•

Report Completed: [Date, Sender Initials]

## EXHIBIT M

## FROM OF LIMITED ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

[Buyer to Provide]<sup>1</sup>

## FORM OF ASSIGNMENT SCHEDULE [PROJECT NAME]

Assigned Product: [\_\_\_\_]

Assigned Delivery Point: [\_\_\_\_]

Assigned Prepay Quantity: As set forth [in the Limited Assignment Agreement]; provided that (i) all Assigned Products shall be delivered pursuant to the Limited Assignment Agreement during the Assignment Period and (ii) the Assigned Prepay Quantity is defined for the convenience of PPA Buyer and [J. Aron] and shall have no impact on the obligations of the Parties under the Limited Assignment Agreement.

APC Contract Price: \$[\_\_\_\_]/MWh

Assignment Period: [\_\_\_\_]

Other Provisions: [\_\_\_\_]

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{1}{2}$  Seller NTD: Limited Assignment Agreement remains under review by both Parties.